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P R O C E E D I N G S  

(Hearring reconverted at 8 : 40 a.m. ) 

(Tramscript conti-nues in sequence from 

Volume 6.) 

COMMISSIONER DEASON: Call the hearing to 

order. Staff, I believe you were inquiring or about 

to inquire. 

MS. JAYE: Yes, Commissioner. Staff had 

begun to ask a question yesterday evening when we 

adjourned, and it's a questi.on based on what has been 

marked as Exhibit 19 and entered into the record. 

This is Mr. Nesbitt's composite, the need for and 

viability of th.e Duke New Smyrna Beach project, and 

the question I have comes from page number 10. 

DALE M. NESBITT, Ph.D. 

continues his testimony under oath from Volume 6: 

COlNTINUED CROSS EXAMINATION 

BY MS. JAYE: 

Q Mr. Nesbitt, if you could turn to page 10, 

please, sir. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Did you hand it out? 

MS. JAYE: No, th.e handout that was handed 

out earlier pursuant to other questions. 

A Yes, I'm on page 10, the supply stack. 

Q Yes, sir. Looking at this now, could you 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC. 
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help me understand if the production price that you 

have assumed far the total 514 megawatts of the 

proposed project is the price that will be actually 

paid for the 301 megawatts which has been actually 

contracted to UCNSB? 

A No. The item on this chart, to clarify, is 

simply the assumed heat rate for the project, 6832, 

times the gas price assumed, plus the assumed 0 & M  of 

$2.30. So it's;, in my language, the go-forward cost 

of each and every one of the! 500 megawatts that 

comprise the project. So the answer to your question 

is yes, the 30 megawatts plus the remaining 470. 

And I should point out it's not a price. 

It's a cost. 

Q All right. Now, if you would, please read 

from your transcript of your deposition that was taken 

at the instance of Commission Staff. 

A Yes. 

Q At plage 42, lineel 15 through 18, beginning 

with nwet,ll and. ending with the word ffneed.ll 

A Would you like me! to read that? 

Q Yes, please, into the record. 

A Line 15 , Answer: "That s an important 

component of need. Let me a.rticulate what I think 

need is, if that's the question. I need to replace 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC . 
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expensive stuff with cheap stuff. That's the 

quintessential definition of need. If it costs too 

much, I don't want it.'' 

Q That's fine, Dr. Nesbitt. I just had a 

question about the lines that you read. 

In your view, is need market driven? 

A In significant measure, but not completely, 

yes, need is ma.rket driven. There are other 

components of need, but - -  

Q What would those - -  

A - -  n.eed is heavily - -  

Q I'm sorry. I didn't mean to interrupt you. 

I was going to ask you what the other components of 

need were. 

A The other components, the market driven 

element of need., which is alluded to here. There's 

environmental n.eed. This project provides 

environmental benefits. The!re is risk mitigation 

need. Same cost, less risk, in the investment world, 

just as in the power world, the latter option is 

better. There is need to create GDP for Florida, 

wealth creation. That's a need. If I live in this 

state, I need wealth. 

So those are elements of need as well. 

Some derive from the market, and some don't. 
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Q How are those different types of need 

weighted in your model? 

A In t.he North American Regional Electric 

Model, in the operating model, those are strictly 

economic modeler, so those models quantify what you've 

characterized, I believe, 01: what I've characterized 

as market based need. 

Q Do you view reliability as being market 

driven? Is thalt one of the different market 

components that. you just spoke of? 

A Yes and no. Reli-ability to me has a very 

strong market driven element: in it, more so than most 

people realize at the beginning of the process of 

reregulation, i..e., the mark;et takes care of a lot of 

reliability. EIut there are some reliability issues 

that are sometimes external to the market that people 

have to worry arbout externally. So reliability is in 

large measure market driven, but certainly not 

completely, in my view. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: But you would agree 

that this Commission should have some say in terms of 

reliability? 

WITNlESS NESBITT: Absolutely. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: So if this plant 

weren't locatedl in the right. place, we should be able 

ACCURATE STENOTYPIE REPORTERS, INC. 
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to say no. In other words, if just up the road FPC 

had a plant just like yours, exactly like yours, if we 

just didn't need your plant where your plant was for 

reliability in the state, I would assume you would 

agree that - -  obviously, I know that we have the power 

to do it, but i.n terms of maintaining reliability in 

the system, we should be able to say to you Ilno.Il 

WITNESS NESBITT: Commissioner, I would 

agree with that if the plants were absolutely 

identical, had absolutely the identical economic and 

all other consequences, then, sure, use reliability to 

break the tie. 

What. I would worry about in that particular 

situation is thte common observation that it's 

redundancy that buys you reliability, more is better 

for reliability. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: But there may be some 

constraints for the Commission to say, well, we need 

it on the other side of the state, in Fort Myers or 

the Keys. 

WITNlESS NESBITT: Yes, absolutely. And I 

think to the extent your question reflects, hey, we 

want the biggest reliability pop for the dollar, for 

the investment, yes, I do thtink that that's a role 

that is logically external from the market, and you 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS , INC . 
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should be concerned with that, absolutely. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Thank you, Ms. Jaye. 

BY MS. JAYE: 

Q Dr. Nesbitt, cou1.d you please provide a 

brief overview of the assumptions upon which you based 

your model? 

A Yes. How brief would you like? No, I'm 

joking a little bit. It's EL fairly large model. Let 

me start with supply, fuel supply. 

The gas supply projections have come out of 

our North American Regional Gas Model, which is 

articulated in detail in DMN-16. The data for that is 

supplied by the U.S. Geologi.ca1 Survey, a number of 

Altos clients, public filings of pipeline tariffs, the 

Gas Research Institute, the National Energy Board of 

Canada, and the Canadian Geologic Survey. That's the 

gas side. 

On the coal side, the price projections 

come from subjective estimates by and large of forward 

markets for coa.1. 

The oil estimates come from observed 

futures markets at the time we did the analysis. We 

just looked forward at gas oil and at diesel oil. 

That should take care of the fuel side. 

On the transmission side, we looked at the 
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EIA transmission database arid the RDI transmission 

database for fi.rst contingency capabilities, and we 

made external assessments of the tariffs. 

On the generation side, we accessed pretty 

much every dataibase we could, the EIA large plant 

statistics, the: ES&D, the RDI, personal consultations 

with various people. And WE! basically - -  and the FERC 

Form Is. We barsically assentbled from the bottom up a 

database with originally 16,000 and now 24,000 

generation units in North America, including 

utility-owned, including non-utility-owned, including 

phantom. That was quite an effort. 

On the demand sidle, my Altos colleagues 

took the FERC 714s hour by hour for the last four 

years, downloadled those, macle an hour-by-hour 

histogram by month to figure! out what the monthly and 

daily and hourly load shapes were. Then they 

extrapolated thtose forward i.n time in the way that we 

alluded to yesterday over the 20-year simulation 

period of the model, so that. the demand side of the 

model has a careful calibration to the historical load 

shape projected. forward through time. 

The other assumptions we've articulated 

yesterday. It is a microeccmomic model, a theory of 

the firm type model, as I chiaracterized it yesterday, 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC. 
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with price taking, profit maximizing producers, 

chasing profits, cost minimizing, shop around, 

consumers seeking the best possible price. 

I maiy have missed a few, but that's a 

pretty good overview. 

Q Thank you. In your opinion, are fuel 

price forecasts; adequate to determine the viability of 

the proposed project? 

MR. McGLOTHLIN: Would you repeat the 

question? I just didn't healr it. 

MS. JAYE: Certai.nly. 

BY MS. JAYE: 

Q Dr. Nesbitt, in your opinion, are fuel 

price forecasts' adequate to determine the viability of 

the proposed project? 

COMMISSIONER GARCIIA: I 'm sorry, Ms. Jaye. 

Could you ask the question algain? Just ask it. I 

didn't hear it. 

MS. JAYE: Certainly. 

BY MS. JAYE: 

Q Dr. Nesbitt, in your opinion, are fuel 

price forecasts adequate to determine the viability of 

the proposed project? 

MR. McGLOTHLIN: For clarification, are you 

referring to th.e fuel price forecasts that Dr. Nesbitt 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC. 
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emp 1 oye d ? 

MS. JAYE: Historical fuel price forecasts, 

or fuel price forecasts which are based purely upon 

historical datal, such as 4221 forms, et cetera. 

A Thank you for the clarification. I think 

as we talked about together in my deposition, the 

reliability of extrapolating historical fuel prices to 

the future has been very poor. And the question I 

always ask myself is would I: buy stocks based on 

extrapolation of past stock prices. No, I wouldn't. 

I would lose. 

A much better way to deal with fuel price 

forecasts, as I testified in my deposition, I believe 

is to build yourself a fundatmental model and 

extrapolate those fuel prices forward based on 

fundamentals. Historical prices have been deplorably 

bad in the past, historical prices as a guide to the 

future. 

And as I mentioned in my deposition, I 

would commend you to papers by Mr. Michael Lynch of 

MIT, which is a. ringing, sti.nging indictment of using 

historical fuel prices and simplistic models based 

thereon to extrapolate future prices. So I would not 

use - -  I would not extrapolalte history. I would not 

want to rely on. those particularly. I would say I 
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definitely would not want to rely on those solely. 

Q Dr. Nesbitt, in your opinion, should 

embedded costs for long-term fuel contracts be ignored 

when evaluating1 need? 

A My view of fuel i.s much like my view of 

electricity. The answer is yes, they should be 

ignored in the following sense. 

I thlink you should mark the fuels to 

market. To me a fuel is not. different than 

conceptually a corporate bond. A corporate bond is 

marked to market every day no matter what the coupon 

rate says that you're going to get for it. And you're 

strongly urged, if you will, to value that corporate 

bond at the marked to market. rate, not at the rate 

that's printed on the bond face. I feel exactly the 

same way about fuels. You should mark all your fuels 

to market. 

Q Dr. Nesbitt, in your opinion, should fuel 

price forecasts of all sorts be ignored in evaluating 

need? 

A No. No, they shouldn't. Fundamentally 

based fuel price forecasts should not be ignored, in 

my view, but sh.ould be considered. 

Q Could you then explain to me the nexus 

between considering a fuel price forecast and allowing 
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an open market, if you will, on, say, a spot market 

basis for trading fuel between willing buyers and 

willing sellers at any given moment? 

A Could you repeat the question? I'm not 

sure I understamd it, please. 

Q Certainly. What I'm trying to understand 

here, Dr. Nesbitt, is if there is some reliability 

upon a fuel pri.ce forecast i.n making a buy decision or 

a sell decision with fuel in running a project such as 

the proposed project than there is some reliance on an 

extramarket input. And as I: understand your 

definition of need, need meains people meeting in an 

open market to trade willingly based upon what the 

market bears at that moment. And to me it seems that 

would not allow for any use of historical data or 

projected data as to fuel price. Could you please 

clarify my understanding? 

A Yes, let me give it a try, and perhaps that 

will help shape the question a little more to one that 

I understand. 

I'm not here to state, nor do I believe, 

that projections into the future are a poor way to do 

it. Quite to the contrary, you have to project into 

the future. 

I'm simply stating that I'm not one that 
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likes to extrapolate historical prices into the 

future. To caricature it, I'm not one who wants to 

plot historical. fuel prices on semilog paper and draw 

a line through it that goes into the future, which is 

what historical. price projections do. That has proven 

empirically to be a very poor way, a very unreliable 

way to get forward fuel prices. I'm simply suggesting 

that extrapolat,ing the past to the future has been 

poor. 

What I'm suggesting that - -  what I want to 

extrapolate to the future is supply curves, pipeline 

capacities, demand curves, the grist from which 

fundamental mod.els are made, and I want to project 

those into the future and find where those cross each 

other. And whenever I've done that personally, I've 

had a far better track record at actually anticipating 

what those future fuel prices really are. 

So I'm not suggesting that you don't 

extrapolate. W'hat I'm suggesting is, you don't do it 

by looking at h.istoricals anid going forward. The 

track record is poor. 

Q Maybe that will hielp me frame the question. 

If it is your testimony - -  a.nd correct me if I have 

misinterpreted your testimony, but if it is your 

testimony that need is to a large degree market 
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driven, why then do we need a fuel forecast? 

A Okay. I think I can better answer that 

question now. Thank you. 

Need is market driven. If we look at the 

need for the Duke New Smyrnat Beach project, market 

driven means thie difference between the price of 

electricity andl the price of natural gas at the plant 

site. So you need to understand the price of 

electricity forward in time. You need to understand 

the price of ga.s forward in time, and you need to 

understand the correlations or anticorrelations 

between the two. 

The way we've chosen to do it is to project 

the price of ga.s forward in time, calculate the clip 

market price of electricity, given the price of gas 

and other fuels forward through time. The price of 

electricity is a strong function of the price of gas 

forward in time. 

So when I say it's market based, the 

benefits of the project, the! GDP contributions it 

brings to Florida, and all the things we talked about 

depend critically on the pri.ce differential across the 

project, the forward price of gas and the forward 

price of electricity. You need to project both of 

those, gas and electricity, as well as all the other 
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fuels, and you need to project those consistently. 

And all I've stated is Nesbitt's Maxim No. 14: Do not 

extrapolate history. You will get the wrong answer, 

with high probaibility. It's an empirical statement. 

Do it fundamentally, gas and electricity. 

Agai.n, I just warit to emphasize, market 

based need is the price differential across the asset 

or the project that you're 1.ooking at. So it's two 

prices, not just one. 

Q Does; that view of a fuel price forecast, if 

you will, over the life of the project take into 

consideration market spikes such as were seen in 

California and the Midwest over this past summer? 

A The particular forecasts we used here do 

not. They look. at an average or a nominal month. 

I might point out. too, on the issue of 

particularly na.tura1 gas price forecasts, this project 

is not very sensitive to the! natural gas price 

forecast we use. That's the! information you really 

need. Raise it a little bit., all it does is favor the 

project. Drop it little bit., all it does is disfavor 

the project. Elut across the! reasonable range of 

uncertainty of gas prices, the project is still a big 

winner. 

That's what I want to know, not exactly to 
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four decimal places of accuiracy what my extrapolated 

forward price is, but does lit matter, is gas price the 

critical issue. The answer is no, it's not. 

Q Would electric price as sold from the 

project in a si-tuation such as occurred in the Midwest 

or California in this past summer result in a price 

impact upon cortsumers whose utilities bought power 

from the project? 

A My understanding of what happened this 

summer is no. And the reason is, where is Florida 

connected to the rest of North America? It's 

conducted through Southern, what we've called Southern 

in the model. Did we see price spikes in Southern? 

No. So there's no connection as we sit here today 

looking backward to last summer between the Florida 

market and the price spiked markets. So in terms of 

physical participation in those markets, no. There 

was no possibility last summer that a Florida producer 

was going to, quote, unquote, get rich by those price 

spikes. 

But if Florida continues to rely on 

transmission from Southern, it's going to be more and 

more as growth happens liable to those price spikes. 

So the status quo makes Florida more and more exposed 

to continental price spikes. It didn't happen last 
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summer because Southern's price didn't spike. 

Q Thank you, Dr. Nesbitt. You did answer my 

question. I have another for you, however. Would you 

please define market clearing price? 

A Let me do that in the context of my 

supplement on page number 6 that shows the 

supply-demand curve crossing. 

Q I hatve that page, sir. 

A Okay. We have a supply curve on that page. 

That supply curve is the composite - -  let's take 

Florida as an example - -  of all the producing assets 

in Florida arraryed in ascending order of production 

costs, arrayed from left to right in ascending order 

of production costs, just 1i.ke the supply stack we 

saw. 

It And the demand curve is the same. 

arrays the consumers in descending order of 

willingness to pay. The people who need electricity 

to run a heart-lung machine would be way, way off on 

the upper left. They're goi.ng to pay whatever it 

takes. And the people who want to shave an extra time 

each day are wa.y out on the right on the demand curve. 

Okay. The market. clearing price, the 

concept is simply when we look at that construct, 

there's one price at which the amount sold equals the 
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amount consumed. It's direct equality. If the price 

was just a tiny bit higher than that, you would have 

more people wil-ling to sell than there were willing to 

buy, so the markets don't cltear. The notion of 

clearing means there's nothing left after the market 

transactions are done. And if the price is a little 

bit lower, there's not enough sellers and too many 

buyers. 

So the idea of a market clearing price is 

that the price is set to balance or equilibrate the 

interests of consumers and producers, exactly balance. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Can I jump in for a 

second? Yesterday you sort of equated this to 

electricity sort of being a commodity. 

WITNESS NESBITT: Yes, I did. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: And it brought up 

something that my aide always says, which is, "TO say 

that electricity is just another commodity is to say 

that oxygen is just another gas." I mean, clearly, 

government has stepped in to regulate fuels because 

they are essential and central. The fact that this 

Commission exists here is because we can't live 

without elect ri.c i ty . 

Probably the part: of the state where I live 

in, Miami probarbly wouldnit exist to the size and 
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scope if we didn't have air conditioning. So we 

depend on electricity in Florida. And I'm sure you've 

looked at Florj-da usage, and Florida ratepayers are 

huge consumers of electricity as a residential 

customer. 

So you do understand the nervousness of 

letting the market determine the need of the state's 

growth. How do we justify that, sort of just letting 

the market decj.de these types of things? 

WITNESS NESBITT: Commissioner Garcia, 

that's a great question, and I wrestle with that, as 

you do, all the time in my own mind. And the way I 

wrestle with that one in my own mind is the 

following: 

Electricity, the way it has been set up, 

and the real reason, as I understand it, regulation 

started was because when we first had an electric 

business, it wals a natural monopoly. That's why 

you're here. We wanted to t,ake advantage of the 

economies of scale in the business, particularly in 

transmission and distribution. And we didn't want, if 

you'll excuse the expression, the capitalist rotters 

to rip off the customers. It is a natural monopoly on 

the T&D side. 

It was probably a1 natural monopoly, most 
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economists think, in generation. When we started this 

business, every plant was field fabricated. Every 

plant was a special island unto itself. We've come a 

ways since then, Commissioner. Now plants are bought 

off a train car. Plants have become commoditized. 

So what people have begun to think is, the 

natural monopo1.y piece that was really there all the 

time hasn't really changed that much. T&D is a 

natural monopol.y, most people think. Most people 

think you don't. want to have four different lines into 

every house in Florida, because that would be 

senseless duplication of a natural monopoly facility. 

But when you look upstream at fundamental 

supply or fundatmental generation, it's very debatable 

whether that's true. I believe it's not true. Entry 

is easy. Plants come in bite size pieces. There's 

more money than just about anything in North America 

now. You can build as many plants as you want, 

conceptually. The thought i.s that the cut between the 

natural monopoly and the competitive sector of the 

market is the gleneration bus bar. So I think what a 

lot of people, myself included, think is that the 

generation piece of it is no longer a natural 

monopoly. 

Consiider the analogy - -  let me make one 
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more p o i n t ,  i f  I might .  I t h i n k  i t  h e l p s .  

Consider  t h e  analtogy of a g a s  d i s t r i b u t i o n  

company. When FERC Orde r  36 was promulga ted ,  I s a w  a 

photo  i n  t h e  newspaper of an  e l d e r l y  pe r son  i n  

Minnesota who had f r o z e n  t o  dea th .  They d i d n ' t  show 

t h e  e l d e r l y  pe r son .  They showed t h e  t o i l e t ,  and t h e y  

showed t h e  b lock  of i c e  i n  t h e  t o i l e t .  T h e  g a s  LDC 

had t u r n e d  o f f  - -  I t h i n k  i t :  w a s  an  e l d e r l y  f e m a l e .  

They t u r n e d  o f f  t h e  g a s  because  she  d i d n ' t  pay t h e  

b i l l .  What was t h e  emotion? The f r o z e n  b lock  of i c e  

t h a t  comprised h e r  t o i l e t .  

G a s  i s  j u s t  as  e s s e n t i a l  t o  human h e a l t h  as  

e l e c t r i c i t y .  O i l  i s  j u s t  a s  e s s e n t i a l  t o  human h e a l t h  

and w e l l - b e i n g .  J e t  t r a n s p o r t a t i o n  i s .  

COMMISSIONER G A R C I A :  L e t  m e  g i v e  you 

a n o t h e r  h y p o t h e t i c a l .  And I: know Commissioner Deason 

p robab ly  has something t o  f o l l o w  up .  But how about  i f  

w e  do s t a r t  running  t i g h t ?  You know, FPC c a l l s  u s  and 

s a y s ,  IlCommissi.oner, i t  1ook;s r e a l l y  t i g h t  h e r e ,  and 

w e  need t o  you g e n e r a t e .  D o  w e  have t h e  power t o  

f o r c e  you t o  g e n e r a t e ?  I mean, w e  can  s o r t  of o r d e r  

them t o  do a l l  s o r t s  of s t u f f  i n  t h e  i n t e r e s t s  of 

F l o r i d a  r a t e p a y e r s .  I d o n ' t  even know how much s t u f f  

w e  can  do ,  bu t  w e  can do an  awful  l o t .  

WITNlESS N E S B I T T :  O h ,  a b s o l u t e l y .  
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COMMISSIONER GARCIA: We don't have that 

same control over you. And yet you may have been part 

of the mix that. someone relied upon for us to - -  in 

Florida I guess it's to keep the toilet from boiling 

in certain places. 

So that being the case, can you see sort of 

the danger that we have? I mean, for the people in 

New Smyrna, say, you know, you just don't want to 

provide the power at what they can afford, or there's 

some constraint to the system, or some plants that FPC 

has go down for an unknown reason, and all of a sudden 

we're facing one of those summer days where it's 

really tough here. 

WITNiESS NESBITT: I can see the concern, 

but I think, Commissioner Galrcia, if you use the 

market judiciou.sly, it doesn't hurt you. It helps 

you. You ultimately do have! control about how much 

entry that you let in. 

And my view is, i.f you let in, and I 

recommend that you do, a substantial granular, small 

chunks, diverse merchant fri.nge, they're going to help 

you do your j o b .  They're going to benchmark what the 

real cost is, n.ot by a subsidized player. And that's 

not to denigrate subsidies. Subsidies are good 

sometimes. Not by a subsidized player who's an 
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incumbent, and every dollar they spend, they get 

return of and return on, but: by a player who has to 

come in and wit.hstand the market test. 

So i.f you have a small but fiercely 

competitive merchant fringe, you get a freebie. You 

get reduced pri-ces. They're very easy to justify. 

You still have control of the system. You have clear 

and careful benchmarking. And now you've got another 

horse in the race that the incumbent has to keep up 

with. It's marina from heaven. You get the 

information. You get the price reduction. You get 

more participation in the state. You get discipline. 

And you still don't lose control. 

I have 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Well, what control do 

over you? 

WITNESS NESBITT: Over me? 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Yes, Duke. 

WITNESS NESBITT: I'm glad you clarified 

it. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: I guess I found out 

that i, ta es 4 L 5 , O O O  to have control over you. 

WITNESS NESBITT: That's a good start. 

That's a good start. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: So over Duke. What 

control do I have over Duke to protect Florida rate - -  
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to protect the ratepayers? Forget about price. To 

protect ratepayers from the dangers that not having 

electricity, ju.st like not having gas caused that 

woman to go. In Florida, not having electricity when 

we have a heat wave - -  I mearn, our people are a little 

bit more used to it, but when we have a heat wave in 

skyscrapers in Florida, you can boil in there. 

WITNlESS NESBITT: It kills people, 

prospectively. It did in Texas last summer. It 

killed 120 people. Absolutely. It's not a joke. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIIA: Right. So what 

control do I ha.ve over you? I know I've got control 

over these guys, because they're part of this whole 

system. So if they do something stupid, but it's 

meant to save a1 Floridian, we'll probably let it into 

the rate base, because that's my interest. I want to 

keep Floridians alive. That isn't the central 

interest here, but clearly this Commission is 

established to sort of protect its citizens, or to 

balance the scatles. What do I have with you? 

MR. McGLOTHLIN: Commissioner, I'm happy 

for Dr. Nesbitt. to answer that question, with one 

caveat, that he's talking now as to policy 

recommendations and not legalistically. With that one 

clarification. 
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COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Right. But we're 

talki.ng about the market, and we're talking about why 

a Commission even exists. And some of the points that 

Dr. Nesbitt has madle I think are very strong. I mean, 

he almost makes it a point JEor this Commission to have 

a very limited role in what we do about reliability 

and things. There may not even be a need for some of 

this process that we have. 

So my question now is the other side, 

what's left for: me, which is public health, safety, 

and welfare. 

WITNESS NESBITT: Let me answer that this 

way. You have mighty strong control over the 

incumbents. Even if the incumbents lost their entire 

generation busi.ness - -  and you control the natural 

monopoly; you control the reserve margin in the state 

- -  what you can do is, you can mandate that they buy a 

certain amount of capacity. And that pretty much 

dictates how much capacity will be in this state to a 

significant degiree, because they have to go buy it if 

you tell them to go buy it. 

And as soon as they have to go buy it, you 

can have a merchant free-for-all, or you can have 

incumbents building plants. There's all means and 

manners by which you'll get the capacity to enter the 
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s t a t e  t o  meet t h a t  k ind  of mandate. 

So you d o n ' t  have t o  have t h e  i r o n  f i s t ,  if 

you will, on t h e  g e n e r a t i o n  g e a r s h i f t  i n  o r d e r  t o  

c o n t r o l  g e n e r a t i o n .  You c o n t r o l  t h e  cus tomers ,  and 

you c o n t r o l  t h e  n a t u r a l  monopoly, and t h a t ' s  where t h e  

c o n t r o l  i s  and belclngs. Okay? 

But I would a sk  you t h e  o t h e r  q u e s t i o n .  

The o t h e r  t h i n g  t h a t  you c o n t r o l  i s ,  you c o n t r o l  how 

much and when. You can  d r a g  your  f e e t  and you can  

s low i t  down, o r  you can throw open t h e  g a t e s  and 

speed  i t  up .  

COMMISSIONER G A R C I A :  Is t h a t  what we 've 

done t o  some degree?  Your model f i n d s  t h a t  w e  have a 

need f o r  about  4 , 0 0 0  - -  I ' m  s o r r y ,  5,400 megawatts .  

Is  t h a t  - -  w e  l u r e  been s lowing  t h e  p r o c e s s ,  pe rhaps?  

W e  h a v e n ' t  been pushing  o u r  companies t o  b u i l d  more? 

WITNESS N E S B I T T :  My view i s  - -  my p e r s o n a l  

view i s ,  y o u ' r e  t o o  s low.  Ply p e r s o n a l  view i s ,  5,400 

megawatts of - -  l e t  m e  c a l l  i t  h igh  t e c h ,  low c o s t  

c a p a c i t y  cou ld  e n t e r  t h e  s t a t t e ,  and t h e  p r o d u c e r s ,  

based  on t h a t  c a p a c i t y ,  cou ld  make money. 

And i t ' s  no t  j u s t .  you.  I t ' s  a l l  t h e  

incumbents i n  t h e  s t a t e .  T h e  u t i l i t i e s  have no t  

wanted t o  bui ld .  i n  any s t a t e ! .  They 've l o w - b a l l e d  

t h e i r  e s t i m a t e .  You know t h i e  s t o r i e s .  T h e y ' r e  
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legend. Okay? 

The process is too slow. Your ratepayers 

are being hurt.. Yclur reserve margins in my view are 

thinner than they n.eed to be. Okay? You're putting 

too much grunk in the air, because you're generating 

with inefficient capacity. You've got too much market 

power still sitting in the system. My view is, the 

process in Florida is too sllow, and you're hurting 

people. The costs are too high, and the reliability 

is too low. 

Now, do you want to enable 5,400 megawatts 

of merchant? I: wouldn't say that. But I would say 

you want to speed up - -  this is my personal 

recommendation now. You want to speed up entry, and 

you want to speed up entry with the lowest and best 

cost technology, which no one has really debated is 

this technology that Duke New Smyrna Beach is 

proposing to build. 

The other thing t.hat has been a problem 

traditionally in Florida is the concern about natural 

gas pipeline ca.pacity entering the state, and 

basically let everybody spit. the hook. We haven't had 

the gas pipeline capacity into the state that makes 

people comforta.ble in siting a lot of new generation 

capacity, but it's coming. 
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COMMISSIONER GARCIA: But, Doctor, you sort 

of ha.venlt addressed the central issue again, safety. 

Let'ls sa.y you've got - -  you know, we have 

some kind of fiasccl, some kind of crisis, and the 

people of New 5;myrn.a need energy. Say they need 40 or 

50 or 100 megawatts, but you're getting a much better 

price in Georgia. And obviously, they have their own 

regulatory commission, so this is a real hypothetical. 

I know that in Florida, I know that our 

companies have to sell first; to our Floridians. I 

know that my people are going to be taken care of 

first before the people of Georgia. There's nothing 

wrong with the people in Georgia. They have their 

Commission, andl they have their ways of fixing it. 

How do I protec!t our people? 

WITNESS NESBITT: Commissioner Garcia, 

think of it this way. When that plant is located 

physically in or near New Smyrna Beach, where does the 

energy enter thie grid? New Smyrna Beach. I don't 

think it's appropriate to think about the contractual 

paths. That's not what you have to worry about. 

The physical situation is, the valuable 

commodity enters the system in or near New Smyrna 

Beach and drives the price clown when it does. The 

whole system responds when i.t does. The physical 
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delivery is in Florida. 

electrons are goingr to be used in Florida. To the 

extent you displace electrons around all over SERC, 

TVA, whatever, the fact of the matter is, if the plant 

is physically located in Florida, it drives down the 

price in Florida. 

That means the physical 

When I talk about: why did you model the 

market as marking your poweir to market everywhere, 

that's why I did it. It's t:he physical entry of power 

into Florida that matters. It is here. Its best 

markets are here. It doesn't have to pay a 

transmission load to get out; of here. 

So I: won't speak for Duke. 1'11 speak for 

Dale Nesbitt. If I own this plant, I'm not going to 

go looking for customers in Georgia, except maybe if 

there's some unusual tranchant circumstance. But for 

many, many, many thousands of hours during the year, 

I'm going to bel selling right here in Florida, because 

my physical deliverability i.s here. I can avoid a lot 

of costs, and I want to make! money. That's just the 

kind of guy I a.m if I put $1.60 million on the ground. 

Physical delivery goes into the market in 

Florida. That's where I monetize my asset. You have 

no control over that, but I as an owner of that plant 

am almost always going to see that as the best 
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opt ion. 

COMMISSIONER DEASON: Dr. Nesbitt, you 

indicated that if there has been a failing - -  and I'm 

sure you don't mean. it in that negative of a sense, 

but if there has been a failing of regulation, it's 

that we've not had enough generation. And maybe it's 

not just regulation. Perhaps it's just the law that 

we're dealing with and the economics and the change of 

those economics. 

But if we want to characterize that as a 

failing, I want you to contrast that with what was 

perceived to be the role of regulation years ago, and 

that was to keep utilities from overbuilding and 

increasing their rate base to the extent to where it 

was not needed and customers; were required to pay a 

return on unneeded assets, to what you see our role 

now as, to try to get cost-effective generation, 

regardless of what the reserve margins are. Contrast 

that to me, andl give me your: viewpoint as to what has 

caused that cha.nge and why we need to rethink what 

we're doing. 

WITNlESS NESBITT: Yes. It's very 

important. I mean, you allude, Commissioner Deason, 

to what was called the Averch-Johnson effect, and that 

is, if you pay people to build, they'll build. And if 
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t h e y  have a na tu ra l .  monopoly, t h e y ' l l  b u i l d  even if 

you d o n ' t  pay them t o ,  because  t h e y  make s o  d a r n  much 

money doing  i t  t h a t  t h e y  j u s t  go ahead and do i t .  

I n  t h e  grlory days  of t h e  i n d u s t r y  - -  and 

t h i s  i s  t r u e  of t h e  n a t u r a l  g a s  p i p e l i n e  i n d u s t r y ,  t h e  

e l e c t r i c  gene ra t ion .  i n d u s t r y .  Okay? W e  i n s t i t u t e d  

t h i s  system because w e  w e r e  a f r a i d  t h e r e  was a n a t u r a l  

monopoly o u t  there .  And I b e l i e v e  t h e r e  w a s  a n a t u r a l  

monopoly o u t  t h e r e  v e r t i c a l l l y  i n t e g r a t e d  th rough  t h e  

e n t i r e  sys tem.  I t  was thought  t h e r e  w a s  a n a t u r a l  

monopoly i n ,  God h e l p  u s ,  n a t u r a l  g a s  p r o d u c t i o n  a t  

t h e  we l lhead ,  e l e c t r i c  g e n e r a t i o n  a t  t h e  bus b a r ,  o i l  

p roduc t ion  a t  t h e  we l lhead ,  t r a n s m i s s i o n  th rough  t h e  

sys tem,  e t  c e t e r a ,  e t  c e t e r a .  

What. we 've  found o u t  ove r  t h e  y e a r s  i s ,  

t h e  n a t u r a l  monopoly p i e c e  i.s t h e  downstream p i e c e ,  

i t ' s  no t  t h e  ups t ream p i e c e .  W e  d i s c o v e r e d  t h a t  o i l  

and g a s  p roduc t ion  were no t  a n a t u r a l  monopoly, bu t  i n  

f a c t  shou ld  have been d e r e g u l a t e d  long ,  i n  my view,  

b e f o r e  t h e y  e v e r  w e r e .  W e  j u s t  d i d n ' t  know i t .  So 

when w e  s t a r t e d 1  o u t ,  w e  thought  n a t u r a l  g a s  p r o d u c t i o n  

was a n a t u r a l  monopoly because  there  w e r e  j u s t  a few 

p a r t i c i p a n t s .  Indeed ,  i t  p robab ly  was, bu t  now i t ' s  

n o t .  

E l e c t r i c  g e n e r a t i o n  was a n a t u r a l  monopoly 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, I N C .  



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

F'. 

895 

for a. number of realsons, in my view, in the old days, 

because it look a hiuge player to get in. 

were - -  
The plants 

COMMISSIONER DEASON: You indicate now that 

has become comnnodit ized. 

WITNESS NESBITT: The plant itself is 

commoditized, j-n my view, yes. 

COMMISSIONER DEASON: And when you gave 

that characterization, I think in describing that you 

indicated that entry is easy. Entry is easy, I 

assume, from art engineering standpoint. But I'm sure 

you would agree that what we've been involved in for 

the last two days is really not an easy thing. 

WITNESS NESBITT : Not easy. 

COMMISSIONER DEASON: And this is what we 

have to go through with our current law before you can 

build your power plant; is that correct? 

WITNESS NESBITT: That's my understanding, 

Commissioner Deason, yes. 

COMMISSIONER DEASON: And if someone else 

comes in after you, they've got to go through the same 

process. So entry is easy i.n the sense that you can 

basically buy that unit off the railroad car, so to 

speak. It may not be that easy. But to the extent 

that it has become commoditi.zed, it's easy, but the 
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framework in which you have to get authorization is 

not easy. 

WITNESS NESBITT: No, it's not. 

COMMISSIONER DEASON: And I guess my 

concern is, if we are to adopt your definition of 

need, do we even need this need process? We can rely 

on the market? 

WITbJESS NESBITT: Need in an economic 

sense? In a legal sense, my perception is that you do 

need it. In art economic sense, with regard to 

generation, strictly generation, I think you should 

oversee it for a while. I think you do need to 

oversee it. For example, I don't think you would do 

it, but I don't. think you would want to do it, throw 

5,500 megawatts of increment,al entry to one player. 

You don't want to have market power spring up where it 

shouldn't have. You've got to oversee that. 

Commissioner Garcia mentioned that there 

may be reliability concerns that happen from a given 

development p1a.n relative to another one. I think you 

want to oversee that so that. you get as much 

reliability augmentation as you can, subject to 

whatever kind of entry strategy that you have. 

I don't think you want to preclude any 

given entrant. If one of thie incumbents wants to 
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enter, they should neither be precluded nor favored. 

I think you want tcl oversee that, because incumbents 

have a special position politically and economically 

in the state. It's not viable to cut them out. 

So 1: do think there are some - -  yes, some 

very substantial roles. 

There's also the question that I call the 

Ricardian rent question. I t ' s  the siting question. 

There's only sc) much land, and there's only so many 

places that the people of Florida are going to count, 

and it's the power plant. How are you going to 

allocate that scarce resource? Are you going to put 

that out to auction, et cetera, et cetera? There's a 

lot of concerns that you have some implicit say over 

the need to be thought through, the location, the 

siting. 

And then I think finally, the other one you 

have to think a.bout is the structural mechanism. Am I 

going to build plants here, and am I going to ex ante 

impose all the costs of that. plant over its life on my 

ratepayers by putting it in rate base and thereby 

elevate the cos'ts because I create incentive for 

people to load costs into that kind of a system, or am 

I going to have a least sum degree of competitive 

merchant fringe to help me aut, to run as a benchmark, 
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to make darn sure that the prices drop? 

So I[ think making that balance, I would 

love to do that:. 1'11 bet you would love to. That's 

a fun job, figuring out what; that balance is. And the 

nice part about: it is, it's a win-win job. You get 

the benchmark. And this project is going to give you 

a heck of a thing to benchmark off of and help you 

out. It doesn't let the horse out of the barn. You 

don't have to throw away the entire regulatory fabric, 

and I don't think you should. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: You listed and I was 

writing down the factors that you think we should 

consider or the! involvement that we should have with 

merchant plants. Your model. demonstrates the 5,400 

megawatts of need, and in your handouts it says 

immediate need. 

Understanding that one of the elements that 

you believe tha.t we should look at is the incremental 

entry and not hlave a concent,ration of market power 

with Duke buildling and satisfying that complete need, 

do you think - -  and I also k:now that you said even 

though we have a 55,000 (verbatim) megawatt need, that 

we shouldn't go through a bi.dding process, that would 

be the wrong wa.y to go. 

But do you - -  is there another process? 
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Because if theire is, if your model is correct and if 

there is that kind of need, should there be some more 

comprehensive process to let individuals know, other 

merchant plants, IrL1ook, we have a huge need. Come in 

and tell us how you could a:L1 satisfy itii? Should we 

have some more open process that we could have more of 

an influence or be a part of the determinations as to 

where these things should be located? Do we do that 

all at once, or do we do it incrementally as they come 

in? Because if we determine there's a need, Duke 

builds this, then Duke comes back and says, "We want 

to build another one somewhere else," how do we tell 

them no when we've decided another one is needed 

somewhere else? 

WITNESS NESBITT: There's a couple of 

answers to that. question, Madam Chairman. 

With1 regard to letting them build another 

and another andl another, sooner or later you can say, 

llLook, I just dlon't want that amount of market 

concentration. 

My gruess is, my strong suspicion is that if 

this project goes ahead - -  amd I think it's a darn 

good idea to ha.ve it go aheald - -  you're going to have 

quite a few people knocking at the door saying, "Me 

too, me too.Il Remember the old "Let's Make a Deal" 
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show? "Pick me, Monty, pick me. 11 

You''l1 h.ave no shortage of alternatives 

that are created for you. 1 ~ 0 ~ ~ 1 1  be in a position, 

Madam Chairman, to pick and choose and to use the 

market to deliver you the information that you need to 

make better decisions. That's what I love about the 

incremental strategy. The market brings you and this 

Commission the information that you need. They bring 

the creativity of the sites, the gas pipelines, dot, 

dot, dot, to you. This is manna from heaven. You 

don't have to huy it. It comes to you as part of the 

application. And then you and your colleagues who go 

through these k:inds of processes, you're going to get 

more efficient and better at: it. You're going to have 

many alternatives to choose from. 

And if indeed I'm right that there are 

5,400 megawatts; of capacity out there, you'll see 

applications from incumbents and nonincumbents 

materialize fairly quickly that you can pick and 

choose among. Clearly, there will be a distribution 

of quality of those applicants ranging from, '!Are you 

kidding me?" to, "Yes, that's a great option, and we 

should think about that." And that's quite different. 

I wcluld urge you not to think about 

generating all the alternatives yourself or having the 
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incumbents generate all the alternatives themselves, 

because they tend to be biased. 

you the alternatives. You're still in control. 

Let the market bring 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: But you do like the 

i nc r eme n t a 1 s t rat e g y ? 

WITNESS NESBITT: I love the incremental 

strategy. You get a benchmark each time somebody goes 

through a process like this. 

Look; at the fair market value of the 

information that you've gotten over the last three 

days. You coul.dn't afford to buy this politically, 

but the people who are endeavoring to serve your 

citizens are gi.ving it to you. That's manna from 

heaven alone. They're helping you understand your 

job. Not that you don't, but they're helping you 

understand your job. 

So the incremental process has a huge 

informational, a huge didact.ic benefit. That's why I 

like it. 

You can always stop. Each incremental 

applicant or ea.ch incrementall person who knocks on the 

door has got to go through the same process. 

To use the lingo I used to use when I was 

growing up, you.'re going to get smarter and smarter 

each time. You're going to get more and more informed 
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about your own system. You're going to have a better 

and better benchmark against: what the incumbents are 

telling you. It's much more reason to process, 

because a huge slug of information comes with it. 

I love the incremental process. I think 

it's the way to do it. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON : Thank you. 

COMMISSIONER JACOBS: So you disfavor the 

bidding for incumbents as well? 

WITNESS NESBITT: Excuse me? 

COMMISSIONER JACOBS : You disfavor bidding 

for incumbents as well? 

WITNESS NESBITT: I disfavor bidding in the 

classical way that it has been done. The reason I 

don't like biddling is that bidding gives the ability 

to pass the costs through to your customers. They're 

not bidding to build the plaint. They're bidding for 

the right to impose costs with your sanction on your 

customers. Tha.t's the part I don't like. 

Let them enter with absolutely no guarantee 

that they can impose one dime of costs on your 

customers. Bidlding is polit.ically a very nice way to 

do it, but let's think about the economics. You're 

imposing costs on people. And the only guarantee you 

have that they're the lowest cost is, that's the way 
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it gat bid. 

COMMISSIONER JACOBS: So let's look at a 

recent example,. Mr. L'Engle spoke about the Cane 

Island project. Th.ey had - - -  I believe it was the City 

of Kissimmee had a new project, a major development 

there that imposed upon them a significant demand, and 

so they went ahout seeking to have that demand met in 

a fairly expeditious manner. They bid that out and 

could not come up with someone who could provide it, 

and they decided to build. Why would we not want them 

to go through that process? 

WITNESS NESBITT: The reason you would not 

want them to go through that process is the following. 

If you believe, as I do, that these plant 

configurations are - -  they're off the shelf. They're 

commoditized. You read about them in the catalog, you 

order them, they come on a t.rain car. Why bid for a 

commodity? Do you bid for gold? Do you bid for 

silver? Do you bid for oil? No, you don't. And the 

reason you don't is, you go to the Wall Street 

Journal, and you know what the price is. Why spend 

the time and money? 

My view of these plants is that they've 

gotten to the point now where they're commodities. 

People don't bid for commodi.ties. 
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COMMISSIONER JACOBS: I thought I 

understood his testimony that one of the main reasons, 

one of the main factors that: drove them to the build 

decision was that they could not find a commodity that 

could show up in time. 

WITNESS NESBITT: I think that may be right 

in the current regulatory framework. Look at what 

Duke New Smyrna Beach is faced with. No incumbent has 

any incentive t,o sign any deal with them. In fact, 

they have a disincentive to do that, because they want 

to keep them out. 

The process is very biased right now. So 

you're coming into the state. You can't sign a 

natural gas contract because you don't have a plant to 

burn it in, and1 you can't si.gn a power contract 

because you don't have a plant to generate it with. 

You would just be speculating if you did. Okay? 

So if you take those kinds of incentives 

that are in a quasi-regulated fabric and put it to 

people who would project a hid, they're not going to 

bid. But if yclu throw it open and you say, llYou can 

monetize the price differential between gas and power, 

period. All we're going to do is look at siting the 

plant and look at reliability, but once you're in, 

it's yours.ii W'hen you get the price differential, 
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you'll find bids, lots of them. 

COMMISSIONER JACOBS: My trouble with that 

is that, as I understood it,, here were two contracts 

sitting on the table, one from the City of Kissimmee 

and one from FMPA. And it was my understanding - -  and 

I can't recall the exact load, but I think it was over 

100 megawatts, and two potential buyers couldn't find 

a commodity that would meet their needs in a 

sufficient amount of time . 
And this is a characteristic that I would 

expect would continue in Florida, where you have a 

major new devel.opment that's going to impose that 

demand in a fai.rly short time line. If we see that 

trend develop, if indeed your theory is correct, then 

I think we would probably be right. But my trouble is 

that here I see a recent example that doesn't seem to 

bear that out. 

WITNESS NESBITT: Commissioner Jacobs, the 

bidder has no a.ccess to the price. Let me give you a 

counter-example. And I don't mean to debate. I just 

mean to give yclu a counter-example. In California we 

have about a 50,000 megawatt. system, and at the moment 

there are six and growing. It may be 8,000 megawatts 

of new capacity entrance bef:ore the Cal Energy 

Commission. NElPOOL is what, 25,000, 29,000 megawatt 
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peak? 

the books. 

They have 33,000 megawatts of new proposals on 

As soon as people have access to the price 

differential between power and gas, they bid, big 

time. The Duke, the Calpines, the PG&E, everybody is 

in. They want a piece of that. And the reason for it 

is - -  you saw j.t in the 5,400 megawatts - -  is that 

there's profitable business to be done in these 

various big attractive states like Florida if you let 

people monetize the difference between the price of 

power and the price of gas. 

The problem with the bidding in a 

regulatory framework is, you're not letting people 

monetize that difference. 'I'hat's the problem. It's 

institutionally set up that people who bid want the 

full, complete, total guarantee of return of and 

return on, or they won't bid. Their incentive is to 

pad their cost and throw it into the bid. 

COMMISSIONER JACOBS: Okay. Let me bring 

on a line of questioning Commissioner Garcia had. As 

I understand it, Duke is or will be a member of FRCC. 

Is that correct? 

WITNlESS NESBITT: I don't know if they - -  I 
don't know that. 

COMMISSIONER JACOBS: Okay. Let's assume 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC. 



r. 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

907 

that they are. And one of the important functions 

that the counc:il serves is reliability on the grid, 

and safety. If some plant, some provider is trying to 

ship power to its customer and they overload a line, 

FRCC can come iLn and ask that plant to shut down or 

redispatch. 

subject itself to those kind of conditions and 

restrictions? 

Would a merchant plant be willing to 

WITNESS NESBITT: Well, I won't speak about 

this specific one, because 1: don't know. But those 

are externalities. Those are public safety 

externalities. I think in most states and most 

commodities, those are reserved for regulators. There 

are emergency situations that allow such preemption. 

So my thought is, at the conceptual or 

generic level, sure, they have to. The specific case 

here, I don't k:now. 

COMMISSIONER JACOBS : And then finally - - 

and this kind of bridges off your point about 

monetizing the gas difference. One of the great 

issues we have in Florida is the supply of gas. 

WITNlESS NESBITT: Yes. 

COMMISSIONER JACOBS: If we were going to 

move in this direction, should we have more concern 

about that, about the singular line that we have 
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coming into the starte? Should we make sure that our 

dependence is riot a.s limited? 

WITNESS NESBITT: Commissioner Jacobs, 

that's a great question. Arid as you know, that single 

line is already expanding itself with a Phase 4 

expansion. I worked recent:Ly on a couple of 

prospective expansions that look like they're going to 

come here. And I think the way to ensure that is to 

make sure the gas pipeline :industry can monetize the 

basis differential between Florida and Henry Hub, or 

wherever they start out, in the Gulf of Mexico, Mobile 

Bay. 

Florida is a very attractive target for 

pipeline expansion right now with the kind of basis 

differential that we see between the Gulf of Mexico 

and Florida. A lot of people have their eye on 

Florida. 

But I think - -  put yourself in the position 

of the CEO of a. prospective entrant into the gas 

pipeline business here. Youlre going to want to see 

generators that are viable and running here, because 

you're going to want to be sure that you can sell the 

volumes that are contracted and that you don't have 

price risks. 

To me, it's an integrated question. If you 
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saw 5,400 megawatts coming :into this state, you would 

see gas pipeline companies :Literally tripping over 

themselves to build the new pipeline capacity into the 

state. 

One interesting issue about gas pipelines, 

Commissioner Jacobs, that may put your mind at ease, 

one of the important concerns that was voiced before 

FERC Order 436 in 1984 was, I'That's it. You'll never 

see another gas pipeline. The incentives are gone. 

There's no return of and return on. 

Quite the opposite has happened. Gas 

pipelines - -  I mean, Louisiana is made out of steel 

now. You can't: find a place to dig that you don't hit 

a pipeline. California has three pipelines coming 

in. You only need two. And yet the consumers have 

benefited huge time. 

People would have argued in this kind of 

arena, "Oh, we have costly duplication of pipeline 

service.I1 Quite the contrary. What has happened is, 

the old guys halve had to discount to stay in business 

or go out of business. The new guys have had the 

loads. The pri.ce of natural. gas is half of what it 

was. 

Gas pipelines - -  I give speeches around the 

country, and I call them Nesbitt's maxim. Keep this 
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That  s one i.n mind: 

N e s b i . t t i s  Maxim No. 1. I f  any th ing  i s  go ing  t o  

o v e r b u i l d ,  i t ' s  go ing  t o  be t h e  p i p e .  P ipe  i s  cheap 

compa.red t o  g a s .  You can  b u i l d  a l o t  of p i p e  f o r  no t  

much money. 

P ipe  i s  cheap compared t o  g a s .  

I wouldn' t worry,, p e r s o n a l l y ,  about  n a t u r a l  

g a s  p i p e l i n e  c a p a c i t y  coming i n t o  F l o r i d a .  I f  t h e  

economic i n c e n t i v e  i s  here f o r  peop le  t o  a c t u a l l y  

monet ize  t h e  p r i c e  d i f f e r e n t i a l  between Henry and 

F l o r i d a ,  i t ' s  going t o  happen. 

COMMISSIONER J A C O B S :  Should w e  be 

concerned about  who's  r e s e r v i n g  c a p a c i t y  on t h e  p i p e ?  

WITNESS N E S B I T T :  No, because  I t h i n k  i t ' s  

f u n g i b l e .  I t ' s  p h y s i c a l .  What I would be concerned  

abou t ,  Commissioner J acobs ,  i s ,  do you have t h e  

p h y s i c a l  aggrega te  c a p a c i t y  coming i n .  I t  d o e s n ' t  

make sense  f o r  peop le  t o  buy something t h e y  d o n ' t  u s e .  

They ' r e  j u s t  go ing  t o  remark:et i t .  I wou ldn ' t  worry 

about  who has  t h e  e n t i t l e m e n t s .  I would worry about  

t h e  aggrega te  c a p a c i t y ,  c o n t r a c t e d  p l u s  u n c o n t r a c t e d .  

C O M M I S S I O N E R  JACOBS:  But I would t h i n k  a 

merchant p l a n t  would be p a r t i c u l a r l y  concerned  about  

t h a t .  I mean, i f  t h e  incumbents can  g e t  s i g n i f i c a n t  

r e s e r v a t i o n  of c a p a c i t y ,  t h a l t ' s  go ing  t o  have a l a r g e  

impact on your  o p e r a t i o n s .  
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WITIXESS NESBITT: It is. But part of your 

job i.s to make sure that if the incumbents buy up all 

that capacity that it's used and useful. If it just 

sits there, youlre going to throw it back. 

And I think it's very risky for a merchant 

to just buy up and become a monopsony buyer of all the 

capacity coming into the state and use that as a 

barrier to entry. I think that's a risky strategy. 

And what you're seeing around the country 

with gas pipelines is that people are getting rid of 

their firm transmission contracts, and they're fully 

commoditizing the tariffs, which is a good thing. 

I developed a power plant recently where 

there's no firm transportation at all. The physical 

capacity is big enough; just: go naked. 

COMMISSIONER JACOBS : Thank you. 

BY MS. JAYE: 

Q Dr. Nesbitt, you spoke earlier about plants 

entering into the market in granular size. Is it your 

opinion that a 514-megawatt plant is a granular size? 

A It j-s my opinion in the Florida market, 

which is 35,000 plus megawatts, yeah, that's a pretty 

small grain on the beach. 

Q Does your model j-gnore environmental issues 

associated with adding the 5,400 megawatts of new 
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wholesale capacity in Florida? 

A Yes,. As I alluded to earlier, my model is 

strictly looking at the economic issues and not the 

environmental iLssues. However, I would add that when 

you take the output of the model runs, you'll note 

that the total fuel consumpt:ion drops substantially. 

It's pretty easy to impute some environmental benefit 

to that off line. 

Q I had one more thing I wanted to ask you 

about this morning. If you could take your deposition 

transcript and turn to page 21. 

A Yes, ma'am. 

Q If you would react into the record, please, 

lines 6 through 22. 

A Line 6, "Question: Then, Dr. Nesbitt, 

would market price on a forward-going basis be like a 

spot market pri.ce as far as your projections?Il 

"Answer: Let me clarify what a market 

clearing price is. It's the price at which, the cash 

price at which buyers and sellers voluntarily trade 

coal. So in thlat sense it's: a cash spot price.'' 

"Mr. Hall: I'm sorry. I didn't hear. 

It's a cash?'' 

I1Ans8wer: Cash spot price. However, the 

cash spot price and the futures prices equilibrate in 
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a merchant market, so there is really no difference, 

okay, between some sort of kerming and some sort of 

spot price when you. are looking forward in time and 

projecting market clearing prices. This is basically 

the price of a BTU of coal :in the Florida SPP,ll that 

should read instead of SBP, ''West Central, et cetera, 

markets as they are laid out: up and down the side of 

the table that you referred to." 

Q The table has not: been entered into the 

record, as I understand it. We were looking at coal 

prices. 

In your opinion, would this analysis that 

you went through on this page that you just read into 

the record be the same for gas? 

A Yes, it would, arid let me amplify. What 

really is at work here is that there's no possibility 

for arbitrage hetween contracts and these what I've 

characterized a i s  cash spot prices. That's an 

assumption that; I've made, and that's the incarnation 

of the assumption that I'm marking my contracts to 

market. 

So, yes, it would be the same f o r  oil, 

coal, and gas, in my ana1ysj.s. I've made a common 

assumption for all. 

MS. JAYE: Thank you, Dr. Nesbitt. 
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Madam Chairman, I would move Exhibit 21 

into the record. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON : Show it admitted without 

objection. 

(Exhibit. 21 was received in evidence. ) 

MS. JAYEl: Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN1 JOHNSON: I think we had 18 and 19 

for Dluke . 
MR. McGLIOTHLIN: They are in the record. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON:: Okay. Redirect? I'm 

sorry. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. McGLOTHLIN: 

Q Dr. Nesbitt, at an early point during your 

testimony, in response to a question, you described 

the displacement effect that: the Duke New Smyrna 

project would have on the marginal units on the supply 

stack. In your: mind, is there - -  do you equate the 

concept of this economic displacement with retirement 

per se?  

A Let me amplify that a bit. Displacement 

means in genera.1 that the plant would be running fewer 

hours. It doesn't necessarily mean that it would be 

running zero hours. It simply means that it would be 

running fewer h.ours. So if before Duke New Smyrna 
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Beach a p l a n t  ?were runn ing ,  s a y ,  8 0 0  hour s  a y e a r ,  i t  

may o n l y  be ru:nning 6 0 0  hour s  o r  4 0 0  hour s  a y e a r  once 

t h e  p r o j e c t  e n t e r s .  So d i sp lacemen t  d o e s n ' t  mean 

decommissioning. 1:t s imp ly  means l e s s  usage .  

Q And w i t h  r e s p e c t  t o  t h e  s i m u l a t i o n  you 

performed w i t h  your  model, d i d  you obse rve  complete  

shutdowns of the  margina l  u :n i t s ,  o r  were t h e y  s imply  

used  l e s s  t h a n  t h e y  would have o t h e r w i s e  run?  

A No, i n  f a c t ,  w e  d i d n ' t .  W e  s a w  t h a t  t h e y  

w e r e  used less  t h a n  t h e y  would o t h e r w i s e  r u n .  And i n  

f a c t ,  what happens i n c r e a s i n g l y  ove r  t i m e  i s  l e s s  

r e l i a n c e  on Sou the rn ,  who i n  t u r n  i s  having  l e s s  

r e l i a n c e  on its upstream s u p p l i e r s .  So t h e  marg ina l  

s o u r c e ,  t h e  shut-down s o u r c e ,  i n  t h e  v e r y  long  run  i s  

some c o a l  plant: o r  g a s  p l a n t  o u t  i n  t h e  h i n t e r l a n d s  of 

Ohio.  

Q I n  irespclnse t o  a n o t h e r  q u e s t i o n ,  you 

obse rved ,  based  upan t h e  modeling you per formed,  t h a t  

ove r  t ime ,  power dcles no t  go from F l o r i d a  t o  

Sou the rn .  What: s p e c i f i c  f a c t o r s  account  f o r  t h a t ?  

A The pr imary  r eason  t h a t  F l o r i d a  power 

d o e s n ' t  go t o  South.ern i n  an economic s e n s e  i s  t h i s .  

Sou the rn  i s  one s t o p  c l o s e r  t o  t h e  c e n t r o i d  of a l l  t h e  

g e n e r a t i o n  on t:he c o n t i n e n t  s ave  F l o r i d a .  

What: does t h a t  tell you? That t e l l s  you 
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that when you :Look at wheeled power, Southern has got 

an advantage. It a l s o  tells you that the price 

differential between Southern and Florida is likely to 

be Southern lower than Flor.ida for some significant 

period of time. There may be short-term tranchants 

from time to tfime, but the economic forces drive 

Georgia prices systematically below or equal to 

Florida prices. 

No one wants to transmit power, if he or 

she is rationa:L, from a high price region to a low 

price region, or from a same price region to a same 

price region. Why pay the transportation freight? 

So the reason :is economic. 

And I donlt think this Commission need 

worry about exports of power systematically from 

Florida to Georgia. Florida is kind of out on the end 

of th.e line, as it were. And our model runs suggest 

that Florida's best economic strategy is to become 

self-sufficient:, much more so than they are now. 

Q Now, unlike Floriida, is it true that the 

Southern Company System is interconnected to other 

areas of the country? 

A Yes,, Th.e Southern System is connected to 

VCAR, Virginia and the Carolinas, and ultimately to 

ECAR, Ohio. I t ' s  connected to SPP Southeast, now 
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called Entergy,, TVA, et cetera. So the Southern 

System is well connected. And the Southern System is 

better positioned to avail itself of, particularly off 

peak, marginal coal production in other regions. 

That's going to bea.t Florida. 

So systematically, you'll see lower prices 

in Southern because of its interconnections to these 

other regions, and you will not see an economic 

propensity to export power from Florida into Southern. 

Q Would allowing merchants to enter the 

Florida generation wholesale market preclude regulated 

utilities from bidding for the supply needed to meet 

their reliability criteria? 

A Cou1.d I get you t:o repeat the question? I 

missed the first part. 

Q Yes. It's in response to some questions 

concerning the relationship between allowing merchant 

entry on the one hand and the role of the incumbents 

on the other. 

Would allowing merchants to enter the 

wholesale generation market in Florida preclude 

regulated utilities from putting out to bid the supply 

requirements they need for their own reliability 

criteria? 

A No, I don't see b7hy it would. I don't see 
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I 

why merchant entry would af .fect the regulated 

utili.ties. I thought Commissioner Garcia's question 

two days ago to Mr. Sasso was right on the mark. 

"What do you care? You know, I'm going to keep you 

whole." I mean, I'm paraphrasing a little bit, and if 

I miss, Commissioner Garcia, please correct me. rrI1m 

keeping you whole. You've got your return of, and 

you've got youi: return on. You got your costs passed 

through. Your shareholders are just fine, thank you. 

And in the merchant world, conceptually, I can 

distinguish in my c'wn mind from those issues.'I 

totally agree with that. 

Q One question posed to you yesterday 

hypothesized that the Commission might allow Duke New 

Smyrna in and then determine that on a need basis, no 

others should be admitted in, and reason that in that 

situation, Duke would have control over the wholesale 

market and be able to gouge on price. Is that a valid 

hypothetical in your mind? 

A I don't think that's a valid hypothetical 

at all. Suppose that scenario were to come to pass or 

come close to passing, where the Commission decided to 

open the door, put one plant: in, say one merchant 

plant in, and then shut the door. To the extent 

reserve margins got thin, to the extent economic 
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incentives for new investment became evident, they 

would become mighty evident in the wholesale market. 

You people would see that very early on. People would 

be applying f o r  new capacity, either incumbent or 

merchant, at a pretty high rate. 

The flurry of activity is going to be a 

mighty good, I would think, harbinger that you want to 

open the door again, not necessarily to a merchant, 

but you don't want to, in effect, subsidize a merchant 

by allowing only one in and then barring entry. And I 

think that wou1.d apply to eight or ten or 12. You're 

going to know by the flurry in the market when enough 

is enough, and you're going to know by observation of 

reliability and other concerns when enough is enough. 

Q In response to a question, you observed 

that a merchant plant has more incentive to operate on 

peak than others. Would you explain why that's the 

case? 

A Absolutely. That: ' s  the most critical thing 

that you need to understand about a merchant. 

How does a merchant make money? Answer: 

Selling energy. When does a merchant make the most 

money? Answer: Selling energy at the highest price 

hours of the year. 

Now, if you were going to put your personal 
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dollars into a merchant plant, what would you tell the 

CEO of that company? 

golly, you better he around on peak. If you're not 

around on peak,. I'm going to find somebody who is." 

You h.ave profound incentive to be available on peak 

when prices are high. 

You would say, ''By gosh and by 

Now, if I take the perspective of the 

Florida ratepayer, that's exactly when I want these 

guys available, because they have the maximum price 

depressive effect on peak. 

Going back to the other case, off peak, if 

you're the CEO of the merchant, do you really care if 

you're available off peak? Not really. That's the 

time to do your: maintenance., You're going to be 

mighty, mighty, mighty careful how you do it. You 

have no market power that comes from shutting down a 

unit and leaving it off the market when you might see 

some peaks, and, oh, by the way, make a lot of money 

off it. You're a merchant. You're a price taker. 

The only dollars you make are margins that you get out 

of the market. Okay? 

And this is classic in industry, the mining 

business, the semiconductor business. All they care 

about is throughput on peak. An airline, if that seat 

leaves Dulles Airport for L o s  Angeles at 5:30 p.m. on 
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Friday afternoon and it's empty, United Air Lines 

loses $1,500 of margin forever. That flight is never 

late. That's, by the way, the highest profit flight 

in their system. And they are available on peak with 

that flight. Why? Because that's where they make 

their money. 

It's very important to think about this. 

The merchants act the way that the Commission and the 

citizens would want them to act: Highly available on 

peak, exactly the time you need them; no market power, 

because if they shut down, they get nothing; and 

unavailable off peak when you don't need them. 

Q In your answers, you've used the term 

"price fly-up" sometimes. Would you explain what you 

mean price fly-up? 

A You've never seen one, but - -  no. What 

happens is, when you have the $7,400 scenario that we 

saw last summer:, wouldn't it: have been nice to have 

500 megawatts t,o shield you from that? There's a lot 

of bankrupt trading companies that really wanted the 

500 megawatts t,o shield them from that. They were 

closing a posit.ion at $40 arid buying it at $7,400. 

They sure would have liked to buy it at $18. 

This capacity that you're talking about, 

this 500 megawatts here and this 500 megawatts there, 
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is a profound :buffer against very near-term price 

fly-ups. And ,the ireason is, the merchants, when they 

see that, they're on. They're putting their power 

into a physica.1 market that's local, that's displacing 

other power, t:hat E: displacing other power, that I s 

displ-acing other power, and you're getting price 

moderation eve:rywhere. Capacity is what moderates 

price f ly-ups. 

Q Counsel for FPL directed you to DMN-15 and 

asked a series of questions about the electric model. 

And you were asked whether 'the model you used is 

intended to model a future deregulated environment or 

the existing w11ole~:ale market, and you said there are 

elements commoii to both. Would you elaborate on what 

you meant by that? 

A Yes. The situation that you find yourself 

in right now in this industry is kind of a hybrid of 

regulation and deregulation. Under the FERC rules, 

interstate or :Long distance transmission is de facto 

deregulated. It I s  unbundled. 

So we wa.nted to make sure in our model that 

we represent i t :  tha.t way. Anybody can have it up to 

its first contingency capability at a posted price. 

So that's a - -  we a.ttempted to represent that very 

simply as price seeking, prof it maximizing 
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transmission system owners, but who were constrained 

to charge a certain price. 

We wanted to represent the world of 

generation, which is pretty common in a regulated and 

unregulated world. A regulated world will dispatch 

generation in ascending order of cost, and an 

unregulated world will dispatch generation in 

ascending order of cost. So we wanted our generation 

simulation approach to be identical, and we did that. 

The biggest difference between a regulated 

and an unregulated world is simply the cost structure 

that you ascribe to the various generation assets. In 

an unregulated world, generation assets have to 

repatriate not just pure variable costs, but also all 

the fixed costs out of the market. Otherwise, they 

shut down and leave. So the only difference really 

significant bet.ween a regulated and an unregulated 

world is how yc~u ascribe the cost structure of the 

various generation units. 

Now, fortunately, the supply stack that you 

saw in the pack:age that I handed out, that's just pure 

variable costs. But when you put fixed costs in and 

amortize over run time, it still has pretty much the 

same merit order, the same order of plants. It's just 

that they get at lot higher costs faster as you move 
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further to the right, the same kind of supply curve. 

So those elements are common between a regulated and 

an unregulated world. 

Customers, to the extent they can choose in 

a regulated versus an unregulated world - -  and 

regulatory bodies hielp them choose. 

buys de facto from the lowest cost source, or helps 

people to do that. 

A regulatory body 

The biggest difference between a regulated 

and an unregulated world is whether or not the fixed 

costs are passed through in the form of rate base and 

therefore ascribed to the market, or whether they're 

not, whether people just have to recoup those by 

monetizing the difference between price and cost. 

So ELS I step back; and look at the model run 

that we have, I: think it's a good representation of 

the world that we have, which is quasi-regulated and 

quasi-deregulated. I would not agree with an 

assertion, "Oh, you're a market guy, you're a merchant 

guy. That's the world that's ten years out, but it's 

not now." I would dispute that. 

Q You referred to the simulation of the 

generation system as dispatching on ascending order of 

cost. Would you explain what you mean by that? 

A Yes. If you take all the generation assets 
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in the state, say, in Florida, and you say, okay, what 

is my - -  I'm going to use the term llforward cost to 

market." If the malrket asks me to run, what do they 

have to pay me minimum to get me to do it? 

And the answer is, it's my fuel cost plus 

my variable operating cost. So if I ascribe a fuel 

cost plus a variable operating cost to each of my 

plants at full load. and I lay them out in ascending 

order of cost, if demand passes through that stack 

that I've laid out conceptually at any given point, 

in an unregulated world, the last plant through whose 

cost the demand curve passes sets the price to 

everybody. 

We talked about yesterday in the regulated 

world, not everybody gets that. But in an unregulated 

world, everybody gets that price. People get 

different margi.ns all the way back through the supply 

stack. But in a regulated or an unregulated world, 

that is what WE? term the least cost dispatch 

solution. There's no way to run your plants that 

gives you a lower cost of operation than simply 

marching backwatrd and forward up that stack. 

That's all I meant. It's a fairly common 

view in the utility industry. 

Q Dr. Nesbitt, you were asked some questions 
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about the assumptions and the methodology you employed 

that are more t:ypicial of a completely competitive 

environment than th.e existing regulated environment. 

Was your choice of assumptions influenced by the 

specific task you were undertaking, by what it was you 

were evaluating? 

A Yes, it was. The particular mix of 

assumptions - -  and I think :C alluded to this yesterday 

- -  were designed to be conservative, but reasonably 

conservative. I don't want to be out of the money, 

but I don't warit to be overlty ambitious in the model 

runs and the results that I put forth. 

Why? It Is a pretty serious investment. 

People are talking about laying out 150, $160 

million. They don't want a model run that says, "Hey, 

don't worry about it. Your spark spread, your gas 

price is $2, arid your electric price is $50 a 

megawatt-hour. Hey, take that one to the bank." 

That's not what; they want. What they want are 

assumptions that render that; spark spread what I say 

is reasonably c:onservative. It's in the range of 

uncertainty. It's on the conservative side. It's 

shaded towards the conservat:ive side, but reasonable. 

Q For example, you said that you assumed no 

shortage or supply as opposed to what perhaps in the 
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real world would be a condition of one or the other. 

Is that an example of one o f  those conservative 

as sump t ions ? 

A Yes. If: you assume that, for example, all 

the generators can run at 100% capability whenever 

they're called upon, that's a conservative assumption. 

It's not unreasonahle. On peak, indeed, people want 

to be available. Off peak, you don't care very much. 

So, yes, that's a conservative assumption. 

It's designed t:o put more aggressive competition into 

the m.arket and simulate that:. 

Q Simi-larly, you testified that in your model 

you assumed - -  that you instructed the model to build 

all the capacity as soon as it was profitable and 

viable as opposed to instructing the model to simply 

include any units that are planned by or appear in the 

utility's plans. Is that an example of a conservative 

assumption? 

A Yes, that's a conservative assumption, in 

the sense that I don't want to assume that what 

utilities announce gets built, because they might be 

wrong. What I want to do is let the model build the 

most cost-effective strategy and overdo the 

competition. It's still competitive, but I want to 

overdo the competition so I can scrunch down those 
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p r i c e  d i f f e r e n t i a l s  t h a t  d i c t a t e  t h e  v a l u e  of t h e  

p r o j e c t  t h a t  I ' m  l ook ing  a t  t o  t h e  lower  end of t h e  

r easonab le  r ange .  

COMlYISS1:ONER G A R C I A :  L e t  m e  a s k  you a 

fo l low-up  on t h a t .  Say FPC comes i n  n e x t  month and 

a sks  t o  b u i l d  a g e n e r a t i o n  p l a n t .  Should w e  - -  what 

shou ld  w e  do i f  t h e y  s a y ,  flTIJell, w e  want a 

d e t e r m i n a t i o n  of need"?  You s a i d  t h a t  t h e  RFP p r o c e s s  

- -  wh.en I asked  t h e  q u e s t i o n  e a r l i e r ,  and i t  s o r t  of 

t r o u b l e d  m e  l a s t  n i g h t ,  you s a i d  t h a t  t h e  b i d  p r o c e s s  

i s  n o t  - -  does  no t  produce e f f i c i e n c i e s .  

WITNESS N E S B I T T :  T h a t ' s  r i g h t .  

C O M M I S S I O N E R  G A R C I A :  And I t h i n k  t h a t  FPC 

has  asked  t h i s  Commission i n  t h e i r  o r i g i n a l  f i l i n g  - -  

I t h i n k  t h e y  p u l l e d  i t ,  b u t  t h e y  may f i l e  i t  a g a i n  - -  

no t  t o  r e q u i r e  them t o  p u t  j - t  t o  b i d .  So i f  FPC comes 

i n  h e r e  t o  b u i l d  a p l a n t  and t h e r e  i s  no c o s t  t o  

r a t e p a y e r s ,  w e  s h o u l d n ' t  c a r e ?  W e  shou ld  s a y ,  I1Go 

ahead" ? 

WITNESS N E S B I T T :  Yes, w i t h  one c a v e a t .  

would l i k e  t o  see i t ,  i f  I were you, i n  a s e p a r a t e  

company. 

I 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: R i g h t .  

WITNlESS N E S B I T T :  And I would l i k e  - -  
COMMISSIONER G A R C I A :  W e  d i s c u s s e d  t h a t  t o  
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some degree. 

WITNESS NESBITT: Completely Balkanized. I 

would worry that the holding company has market power 

if it. was me. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Right. You're right. 

We did discuss it yesterday. 

BY MR: . McGLOTHLIN: 

Q Dr. Nesbitt, I'm going to give you one more 

example of the assumptions typical of a competitive 

environment. You testified that where there was a 

contract involved, you assumed that the contract was 

for a market price instead of the actual contract 

price. Is that: an example of a conservative 

assumption? 

A Yes, that's a very conservative assumption, 

in the sense that if I mark all my contracts to 

market, in some sense, I'm assuming nobody has to hold 

any uneconomic assets, and they direct their decisions 

based on economic rather than uneconomic assets. 

That's a pretty aggressively competitive assumption. 

Q Are there any other areas where you were 

consciously, deliberately conservative by making an 

assumption that was based on a competitive view? 

A Yes, there's a couple, and 1'11 go through 

those fairly qu.ickly. One i.s the fuel price 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC. 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

1 5  

16 

17 

1 8  

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

2 4  

2 5  

930 

assumptions. We wanted to 'assume the lower end of the 

range! for fuel price assumptions. The lower your fuel 

prices, the less propensity for entry. Why? Because 

your old plants work better. 

Think of it this way. If fuel prices were 

, zero, the plants ycu've got look pretty good, don't 
they? The problem is, fuel prices aren't zero. 

Immediate and easy and unplanned entry, 

that ' s  an aggressively competitive assumption. If 

it's profitable, they will come, and they will come 

quickly. I wanted to have that in this case, because 

I want the price differentials to reflect quick and 

flexible entry. I want to mark to market every 

transaction, every physical sale that's made 

everywhere. I don't want to Balkanize one transaction 

out of one mark:et and therehy allow somebody to make a 

noneconomic transaction, even though in the real world 

many people thi.nk they can point to those. That's an 

aggressively competitive assumption. 

If you want to generate power in Georgia 

and sell it to Florida, you've got to first compete in 

the Georgia market, and then you've got to compete in 

the Florida market. That's more aggressively 

competitive and. designed to be conservative than one 

which you generate in Ge0rgi.a and just poured it into 
.-- 
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Flori.da, and, oh, hey, well, you got a good deal. 

Q Wou:Ld these deliberately conservative 

assumptions have thle effect of understating or 

overstating the amount of capacity needed on an 

e c o no mi c ba s i s ? 

A They understate the amount of economic 

capacity that's needed. And the reason they 

understate it j-s that they understate the price 

differential between gas and power. 

Q Would they tend to understate or overstate 

the indicated viability of the Duke New Smyrna 

project? 

A They would understate the profitability and 

the viability of the Duke New Smyrna project. 

Q You were asked whether the electric model 

has ever been presented to a regulatory proceeding, 

and you said no. How has the model been used? 

A What the model hats been used for since its 

inception in 19173 by and large is to direct investment 

decisions. Private companies use it for that, to 

value their resources, to decide what power plants 

they're going to buy and whalt ones they're not going 

to buy, to help them with trading decisions, to help 

them to measure risk. We halven't done that here, but 

you can look at probablistic! issues related to price 
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risk. 

It 

It Inas heen used to set transfer prices, if 

you krill, in vertically integrated companies. How do 

you siell to yourself if you're selling gas to yourself 

to generate, and how do you sell to yourself if you're 

selling power t:o yclurself to distribute? You're a 

vertically integrated producer. 

to allocate your assets if you're doing that? 

What's the right way 

It has done mergers and acquisitions. 

has done divestitures. It has done international 

development projects. I would say that 99% of the use 

has been in the private sector helping people make 

better decisions. 

Q For this next question, Dr. Nesbitt, please 

refer to page 1.0 of the handout which is the FRCC 1998 

supply stack. 

Duri.ng questioning yesterday, you were 

given one hypothetical that suggested a situation in 

which the last entrant allowed on a merchant basis was 

not cost-effective because i.ts price was as high as or 

higher than the marginal uni.t on the existing stack. 

Now, at page number 10, this supply stack 

is based on information taken from your model, is it 

not? 

A It's information that's taken from the 
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datablase that enters the model. 

Q All righ.t. Thank you, sir. Just looking 

at it very quickly, according to that information in 

your database, how many megawatts of more expensive 

capacity, more expensive than the proposed project, 

exists in today's supply stack? 

A If you take a quick look at - -  

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Before you 

answer - - I'm sorry. I got on the phone. I didn't 

hear your question. I'm sure it makes a very good 

point, so - -  

MR. McGLOTHLIN: Eles, sir. This is in 

response to yesterday's hypothetical situation in 

which the last entrant was a i s  expensive as or more 

expensive than the marginal existing unit. 

BY MR. MCGLOTHLIN: 

Q And my question i.s, by reference to page 

number 10, how many more megawatts - -  how many 

megawatts of more expensive capacity exists on the 

supply stack, more expensive! than the proposed 

pro j ect? 

A You can see that approximately, if you look 

at the Duke New Smyrna project, it sits at about the 

14,000th megawatt. And on this supply stack, you get 

up to about 35,000, so there's roughly 20,000 
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megawatts, a few more, that are more expensive on a 

forward incremental- cost ba,sis than Duke New Smyrna, 

meani.ng it's going to be inframarginal virtually all 

the time, which is why you saw such high run rates. 

And hframarginal simply means further to the left in 

the supply stack and always dispatched. 

Q Is it sa.fe to say then that the facts in 

front of the Commission are far different from that 

particular hypothetical in the question? 

A I think so, yes. 

Q If there's something like 20,000 megawatts 

of more expensive capacity, and if your simulations 

at suggest or indi-cate that the project would operate 

capacity factors of 85% and above, what would you 

infer about the! viability of the project from that 

information? 

A That. alone is enough to tell you that t,,e 

project is viable and will be viable for a mighty long 

time. You don't need to fool around with demand. You 

don't really ca.re where demand is. It's almost always 

to the right of Duke New Smyrna, so the price is 

almost always to the point where it's going to run and 

make money runn.ing. You just don't have to worry 

about that scen.ario that 1 heard yesterday or the day 

before, "Well, what if it just sat there?" 
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Cominissioners, i t ' s  no t  go ing  t o  j u s t  s i t  

there! .  

going1 t o  run  a:L1 t h e  t i m e .  

N e w  Slmyrna Beach peop le  a r e  go ing  t o  r u n  a t  Chr i s tmas ,  

N e w  Y e a r ' s ,  t h e  Four th  of J u l y ,  and a l l  t h e  t i m e ,  

because  t h e y  altways make money runn ing  i t ,  and a s  t h e y  

make money running  i t ,  your  p r i c e s  d rop .  

Look a t  where i t  i s  i n  t h e  supp ly  s t a c k .  I t ' s  

The Duke peop le  and t h e  

Those a r e  j u s t  no t  c r e d i b l e  s c e n a r i o s  t o  

m e .  

of t h i s  pro jec t :  i s  t h i s  supp ly  s t a c k .  

A l l  you r e a l l y  need t o  unde r s t and  t h e  v i a b i l i t y  

Q Yes t e rday  I t h i n k  i t  was Commissioner C l a r k  

who asked  a q u e s t i o n  r e l a t i r i g  t o  a s i t u a t i o n  i n  which 

a merchant p l a n t  makes a who lesa l e  s a l e  t h a t  a 

r e g u l a t e d  u t i l i t y  would o the rwise  have made, meaning 

t h a t  t h e  cus tomers  of t h e  u t i l i t y  do no t  r e c e i v e  t h e  

f low back o r  the p r o f i t s  of t h e  s a l e .  Would t h e  

impact on those! customers  be any d i f f e r e n t  i f ,  r a t h e r  

t h a n  t h e  mercha.nt p l a n t  meet ing t h a t  t r a n s a c t i o n ,  

a n o t h e r  r e g u l a t e d  u t i l i t y  made t h e  s a l e ?  

A No, t h e y  wouldn't.  be d i f f e r e n t .  And l e t  m e  

ampl i fy  t h a t  one a l i t t l e  b i t ,  because  t h a t ' s  a n  

impor t an t  i s s u e .  I f  a new e n t r a n t  comes i n  and 

d i s p l a c e s  a s a l e  t h a t  an o l d  e n t r a n t  would o t h e r w i s e  

make, d o e s n ' t  t h a t  h u r t  t h e  cus tomers ,  t h e  o l d  

e n t r a n t ?  T h e  answer i s  no, i t  d o e s n ' t .  I t  h e l p s  
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them. 

Why'? Keep in miind, displacement comes in 

two colors here. When you displace a plant, the 

prima.ry color that happens :is, you don't spend 

discretionary high O&M that you would have otherwise 

had to spend on the plant that gets displaced. 

the leading term, not embedded cost, not with these 

old plants. The embedded cost is pretty much gone, I 

would bet. These are real, bona fide ratepayer cost 

savings. 

That's 

So this notion that somehow there's going 

to be some stranded embedded cost that's going to have 

to be amortized over fewer customers is just plain 

wrong. That's more than offiset by these very large 

fixed O & M s  that are going to be saved when you don't 

have to run these old plants. 

The '72 Vega probably costs you 7 or 8 

thousand bucks a year just t.o keep the car running. As 

soon as you get rid of the car, you get rid of the 

$8,000 a year hieadache. That's a real cost savings, 

and when you get rid of the car or ramp it back, you 

don't have to pay it. 

So I would allege: that not only is there - -  

there's a stran.ded cost-benefit on not running a lot 

of this old capacity. I haven't looked at it, but 
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I've seen it in that's a very strong conjecture. 

other: venues. 

COMMISSIONER JACOBS: What about the value 

You 

of doing the repowerings? 

WITNESS NESBITT: Commissioner Jacobs, 

would. you repower a. 1972 Chevy Vega? I'm fairly 

negative on repowerings, and 1'11 tell you why: 

Because you've still got the same old plant, the same 

old site, the same old field-fabricated junk sitting 

out there. And I don't mean it in any specific 

context. And you can dress it up pretty and put 

perfume on it, but it's still1 expensive to keep. 

do not get the bang for the buck on repowering a '72 

Chevy Vega that: you do on a new plant. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIIA: But you get the bang 

for the buck within the context of the real world, 

maybe not in the abstract world, but in the real 

world, because the land is t-here, the environmental 

requirements are met, and there's a whole series of 

things that present efficiencies which I doubt even 

Duke would be a.ble to compete with. 

I know that in the most - -  in a perfect 

world, it's better just to scrap it and build a new 

plant. But in the real world of siting a plant, of 

environmental things - -  I mean, it's quite a process 
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that your client has had to go through just to get 

this far. 

WITNESS NESBITT: It's true, Commissioner 

Garcia. That's true. But there's a cost that's 

imposed on Florida ratepayers, and there's a loss in 

Florida wealth because you repower. 

Think about what repowering is. Just think 

about that 1972 Chevrolet Vega with the aluminum block 

engine. It was a terrible automobile. Would you - -  

is it better to repower? ''Oh, let's tear out the 

engine and transmission and put in a new one. Heck, 

the car is grea.t. We don't have to go down and shop. 

We don't have to go through the hassle, and we'll save 

a lot of money." 

The fact is, it's: still a '72 Chevy Vega. 

The fact is, it still has a goodly fraction of the 

high cost that it had before! you ever repowered it. 

I agree with you, Commissioner Garcia, it's 

better than not doing it from the perspective of O&M. 

But I've worked. on a lot of repowerings, and I've not 

seen one that's economic from the perspective of the 

investor unless somebody hands the cost of repowering 

throulgh to ratepayers. You've got to have that, or 

repowerings don't look very good. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: That's including 
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environmental, siting, all the other costs associated 

with building ii pla.nt? 

WITNESS NESBITT: No, I won't say that. 

Just economic. On a straight economic basis, I 

wouldn't do it, 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Right, on a straight 

- -  but that in the real worlld is different. You know, 

it's like, you know, if we didn't have to pay for 

zoning costs, housing would be much cheaper. If we 

didn't have to pay for utility costs to hook up, if we 

didn't have to pay impact fees, obviously, the cost 

of a house would go down 15 to 20%. But the real 

world is, you've got to pay them no matter where you 

go. So in the case of repowering, somebody is going 

to have to pay that. And you would obviously put it 

on the rates. FPL or FPC has already paid for that. 

There's no way we're going to pay for that again. 

WITNlESS NESBITT: I think those are good 

points. I would simply say, though, when you look at 

just the economics of it, you need a subsidy to do it. 

I agree with you. But when I need a subsidy, when I 

need to have my capital costs of repowering put in 

rate .base, that's a danger signal to me as an 

investor. It's something I wouldn't do in a market 

that %with regulatory approva.1 I get to do. That's a 
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danger signal. I'm not saying it's bad. I'm saying 

I've never seen one that's great. 

BY MR! . McGLOTHLIN: 
Q Dr. Nesbitt, I just have a few more 

questions. Staff a.sked you about the role of fuel 

forecasts in your exercise. 

First of all, what is the relationship 

between fuel price and the model's indication of the 

need for capacity? If the price is higher, what 

happens to the indicated need for capacity? 

A The general rule of thumb is this for gas. 

If you raise the forecasted price of gas in Florida 

and throughout the United States to a higher level, it 

will generally differentially favor the more efficient 

new technology like the Duke New Smyrna Beach 

technology. So if we use the higher gas price 

forecasts, we're going to provide more relative 

benefit for this entrant. I: used a low price forecast 

to be conservative. 

Q Now, Staff marked as an exhibit their 

deposition of you. During that deposition, you were 

asked whether the Commission should be concerned over 

the fact that your findings are based upon your fuel 

prices rather than something1 that they've seen before 

in other contexts. And you had the occasion in 
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r e sponse  t o  a S t a f f  r e q u e s t  t o  compare your  c o a l  

p r i c e s  w i t h  t h o s e  r eco rded  on 4 / 2 3 ;  i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A Y e s , ,  w e  d i d .  

Q And what was t h e  comparison t h a t  you 

obse rved?  

A I b e l i e v e  o u r  c o a l  p r i c e s  a re  lower  t h a n  

t h e  4/23 p r i c e s .  

Q Now, s i n c e  t h e  t i m e  of t h e  d e p o s i t i o n ,  have 

you had occas ion  t o  look  a t  t h e  f u e l  f o r e c a s t  t h a t  w a s  

t h e  s u b j e c t  of t h e  Cane I s l a n d  p roceed ing?  

A I b e l i e v e  I d i d ,  y e s .  

Q And t h a t  i nc luded  some f o r e c a s t s  of g a s  

p r i c e s ?  

A Yes, i t  d i d .  

Q And how d i d  your  assumpt ions  compare w i t h  

t h a t  p a r t i c u l a r  f o r e c a s t ?  

MR. GUYTON: O b j e c t i o n .  T h i s  goes  beyond 

t h e  scope  of t h t i s  w i t n e s s ' s  d i r e c t  t e s t imony .  T h i s  i s  

something he ha.s s t u d i e d  supplementa l  t o  t h e  f i l i n g  of 

i t .  W e  were no t  made aware of i t .  I t  w a s n ' t  r a i s e d  

and w a s n ' t  asked  i n  t h e  d e p o s i t i o n  t h a t  he w a s  u s i n g  

t o  l a y  t h e  p red . i ca t e  f o r  i t .  

MR. M c G L O T H L I N :  W e l l ,  d u r i n g  t h e  

d e p o s i t i o n ,  which has been o f f e r e d  as  an  e x h i b i t  t o  

s ave  t i m e  i n  l i e u  of c r o s s  examina t ion ,  I t h i n k  I have 
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an opportunity to redirect lbased upon those 

questions. Staff asked if the Commission should be 

concerned about the fact that Dr. Nesbitt is basing 

some recommendations on fuel forecasts that the 

Commission has not seen and differs from the ones that 

you looked on favorably before. You have seen and 

looked on favorably the fue:L forecast that was used in 

the Cane Island proceeding. I think it's fair to ask 

Dr. Nesbitt to make an observation generally about how 

his stacks up against that one. 

CHA1:RMAN JOHNSON:, Could you restate your 

quest ion? 

MR. McGLOTHLIN: Yes. 

BY MR. McGLOTHLIN: 

Q Dr. Nesbitt, with respect to the gas 

prices, are your projected gas prices higher or lower 

in general than the ones you saw in the forecast in 

the Cane Island1 proceedings? 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: 1'11 allow the 

quest ion. 

A Our gas prices appear to be a bit lower 

than that. And! the reason I: say appear, I'm not sure 

what their inflation assumptions were, but they're 

lower. Ours are lower, so ours are going to be more 

conservative vis-a-vis entry of new capacity and 
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vis-a-vis the benefits of the Duke New Smyrna Beach 

project. 

Q One of the assumptions you used was the 

assumption that: the merchant project would make 

short-term energy sales only, is that correct, in your 

mode 1 ing ? 

A Yes. And let me amplify that a little bit. 

What we assume in market clearing prices in our model 

is that it's art energy-only price. We've said that. 

But what that means really j-s all energy costs and all 

capacity costs are bundled together in one common 

bundled price. So we really do have the fair market 

value of capacity and the faiir market value of energy 

bundled into one whole. 

The statements before that, "Oh, you just 

have an energy price," aren't really right. We've 

bundled the fair market value of energy and capacity 

in our projections. 

Q In response to one of Mr. Sasso's 

questions, you said that a merchant plant, merchant 

operator might decilde to, in your words, go naked, by 

which I think you mleant to say make only short-term 

t r ans act ions ? 

A That's right. 

Q With respect to the alternative of a 
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contract-based arrangement of some duration, 

opinion, would it be in the interests of a merchant 

opera.tor to operate completely in that mode? 

in your 

A No, and I think in the world that we live 

in, merchant operators don't: operate in that mode. 

When they have a chance to sign a contract at market 

rates, their senior management feels much, much more 

comfortable when they have it contract. Their senior 

managements have grown out of this industry where 

contracts are the byword. 

So my own personal view, and I certainly 

can't speak for Duke senior management, is that the 

minute they get a contract ait market, they're going to 

sign it, they're going to tarke it back to their senior 

management, and they're going to ask for a promotion. 

I'm kidding a little bit, but not much. That contract 

is a signal of success in th.e organization. 

My view is when the market contracts come 

and t:hey get out of the disadvantaged contracting 

situation they're in right now, they'll sign so 

quickly it will make your head swim. That's just the 

way people in this industry to it. They don't want 

the risk. 

Q Generally speaking, Dr. Nesbitt, in your 

opinion, is there more profit to be made by a 

ACCUF!ATE STENOTYPE$ REPORTERS , INC. 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

2 5  

--. 

945 

contractual arrangement as opposed to a sheer 

short-term basis? 

A At the moment I helieve there is. There's 

more profit to be made by contracting. 

Q 
transactions, you were making a deliberately 

conservative assumption? 

Is that why when you assumed energy-only 

A Indeed, yes. 

Q I just have a final question. At various 

points during your appearance here, some of the 

Commissioners hlave solicited your thoughts on various 

hypotheticals a.nd scenarios. Would you summarize for 

them your recommendations wi.th respect to the process 

and the role of merchant plants in that process? 

A Yes. Let me resummarize that. 

I think the Commissioners have both a 

diffiicult but a mighty interesting job here. The time 

has come, I believe, to let the market bring the 

information and let the mark.et bring the capacity in a 

limited, gauged, rationed, metered kind of way. I 

think just the informational value that the Duke New 

Smyrna Beach plant is going to give you is going to be 

worth a lot of m0ne.y. I think it disciplines the 

incumbents, not to ,say that they need discipline, but 

it disciplines them. It provides you a careful 
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benchmark, gives you experience at figuring out how to 

regulate a merchant., gives you experience at knowing 

whethier all these reliability concerns are really 

valid. concerns or they're just chaff. 

You know for sure that you're going to have 

lower prices in Flclrida than you would otherwise 

have. Not by a lot, because the plant is not that big 

in the grand scheme of things, but you will have lower 

prices. 

You will have more reliability, because you 

have more redundancy than you have right now. 

Granted, it's only 500 megawatts worth, but it's 

more. You should be pretty confident, I believe, that 

the plant is always going to be there and it's always 

going to run, hecause no sane plant owner is going to 

sit there and turn it off whien prices are high. 

Absolutely the opposite. ThLey're going to run this 

thing as hard a s  they can run it. 

You can be confident that when they get a 

contract at market, they're going to sign it. That's 

my own personal vie%w. I don't represent Duke, but 

they'll sign it. Blelieve me, they'll sign it. 

Wouldin' t you? 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: I don't know. Why 

would I? Why would I? If you've shown that this 
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s t a t e  needs  5 , 4 0 0  megawatts ,  I would j u s t  s i t  t h e r e  on 

t h e  margin.  You s a y  t h a t  i t i s  needed.  You s a y  y o u ' r e  

go ing  t o  be t h e  lowes t  i n  --- y o u ' r e  go ing  t o  be lower  

t h a n  a l o t  of peop le  i n  t h e  s t a c k .  

a r e n ' t  be ing  b u i l t .  You know, t h i s  Commission and 

t h i s  p r o c e s s  t a k e s  a w h i l e .  I f  I were Duke, I would 

s i t  t h e r e  and p l a y  t h e  game. You know, maybe t h e r e ' s  

a p o i n t  where F'PC, because  t h e y  c a n ' t  r e l y  on t h e  

c o n t r a c t  w i t h  you, s t a r t s  b u i l d i n g ,  and FPL s t a r t s  

b u i l d i n g .  

But I t h i n k  t h e  market o f f e r s  them a g r e a t e r  

o p p o r t u n i t y  t h a n  j u s t  a s t a n d a r d  p r i c e .  

T h e  o t h e r  p l a n t s  

Then t h e y  may have t o  t i e  themse lves  up .  

WITNESS N E S B I T T :  Commissioner G a r c i a ,  I 

j u s t  (developed a p l a n t  f o r  t h i s  o r g a n i z a t i o n  about  two 

y e a r s  ago t h a t  was - -  i t  w a s  i n  a n o t h e r  s t a t e .  I t  w a s  

so  p r o f i t a b l e ,  i t  p r i n t e d  money, and t h e y  hedged i t  

w i t h  a c o n t r a c t .  A n d  t h e  r eason  t h e y  d i d  t h a t  i s  

becau,se t h e i r  management s t r u c t u r e ,  l i k e  you, i s n ' t  

t h a t  c e r t a i n .  T h i s  i s  a tough world t h a t  t h e y  l i v e  

i n .  

Put y o u r s e l f  i n  t h e  p o s i t i o n  of t h e  s e n i o r  

management a t  Duke. Okay. That p r e v i o u s  a s s e t  w a s  a 

phenomenally good a , s s e t ,  bu t  t h e y  hedged i t  because  

t h e y  wanted t o  be alble t o  p r e d i c t ,  t h e y  wanted t o  be 

a b l e  ito under s t and  :how t h e y  w e r e  go ing  t o  o p e r a t e  i t .  
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They have to bring people to run these plants that 

live in the o l d  world, not the Nesbitt new world. 

the realities of th.e situation are, they, like you, 

need the same kind of stabillity, the same kind of - -  

not a C changed in their perspective. They don't want 

their marketing and trading company, for gosh sakes, 

to dictate their entire corporate future. That's too 

scary. Everybody saw what happened last summer. 

So 

My view is, the way that American 

corporations like Duke - -  they're no different from 

the incumbents, their structure. If they can sign a 

contract at market rates, that's a big win for them 

organizationally. Do they leave money on the table? 

Absolutely, in my view. But they will do it for the 

security and for the start. That's my view. 

And furthermore, I would make one other 

point. If this project is so great - -  

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: This project should 

be able to print mo:ney. If it were in the Nesbitt 

world, this should :be a big one for you guys. 

WITNESS INESBITT: For a while. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Exactly. 

WITNESS IWESBITT: For a while. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: For a while, and then 

the market is going to come in. 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS , INC. 
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WITNESS NESBITT: Absolutely. Now, if it 

is a big one for a while, you ought to see that in the 

contract terms. In other words, if I were to sell you 

a corporate bond that paid 25% compound annual 

interest and the face value is 10 grand, you would pay 

me a lot more t.han 10 grand than what you paid me up 

front. You probably will be able to see that in 

whatever contratct is signed with Duke New Smyrna 

Beach, so you'll be able to see cold what the market 

thinks the value of this contract is, and I presume 

you'll be able to pass some judgment on that. And if 

it's too high - -  

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: But would FPC want to 

buy t.he contract? I mean, would FPC say, I'Well, the 

market, according to1' - -  they may go out, and they may 

buy your model, and they may run it themselves after 

the $45,000 investment, and they say, ''Hey, this thing 

is good." So FPC w13n't buy from you. They'll say, 

!!I don't want that, because if I build one and I just 

throw it out there, if I build one, I copy Duke, I can 

make a ton a money. I can mlake a ki1ling.l' 

WITNESS NESBITT: Commissioner Garcia, 

that's absolutely right, and that's what disciplines 

the price. If I'm ]Duke, I'm not going to be able to 

sell at more than tlhe long-run incremental entry cost 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE{ REPORTERS, INC. 
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of th.e next entrant., and he or she is not going to be 

able to sell at: more than my long-run entry cost 

unless somebody has handed the money through in 

rates. 

So j-n the purely merchant world, that's 

precisely - -  yc)uive just put: your finger on it - -  what 

disciplines the! profitability of these units, and 

that's entry. That's commonality of technology, and 

that's market entry, without: the subsidy of base 

rates. Subsidy is not necessarily bad, but without 

the subsidy of base rates, you get all the discipline 

you want and th.en some. Thart's the key right there, 

absolutely. 

C0MM:ISSIONER DEASION: But is there an 

incentive for Florida Power to do that if they put 

that jplant into rate base an.d they basically have a 

rate of return, and they don't have the opportunity 

for tihe upside benefits? 

WITNESS :NESBITT: Commissioner Deason, yes, 

but tlhat's a tradeoff as a blusiness person. Suppose 

you were the CEO of Florida Power & Light, and you 

said, "Okay. I've got a choice. I'm going to build a 

500 megawatt unit. Now, am I going to go down to 

Tallahassee and ask them to put it in rate base, or am 

I going to go naked and go try to sign market 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE$ REPORTERS, INC. 
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contracts? 

It's just like buying mutual funds. You 

can either buy an income fund or you can buy a growth 

fund. If you huy an income fund, you're guaranteed 

the income, but, itis not as high. If it's a growth 

fund, you get the upside, but you also get the 

downside. 

Commissioner Deason, those to me are 

business decisions that I'm delighted for Florida 

Power & Light s'enior executives to have to make. 

That's exactly the set of decisions you want to have 

them making, holw do they want to structure their 

generation business, and come to you with a cogent 

proposal, just like Duke has', as to why their proposal 

makes sense, and then allow you to pass judgment on 

it. I want them making those decisions if I'm you. 

COMMISSIONER DEASON: But if the need that 

is to be met is the potential for sales at a wholesale 

level and not the nieed for their retail customer, 

their only option is to do it naked, as you say, 

perhaps create their own subsidiary, because I think 

that this Commissio:n probably would be reluctant to 

put the burden on t:heir retail customers to guarantee 

a return on a plant that may sell at wholesale. 

WITNESS IVESBITT: That's right. That's 

ACCUFtATE STENOTYPE$ REPORTERS, INC. 
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right. I would wager that that Is what you would 

ultimately end up d!oing, is forcing a very, very 

significant Bal!kanization in their business so that 

they don't mix their regulated and deregulated 

businesses. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: However, Mr. Nesbitt , 

also with your scenario, you know, you were talking 

about letting in a new world. It would be I guess in 

your mind difficult for this Commission to justify any 

plant being built that the ratepayer is on the hook 

for, at this paint. 

WITNESS NESBITT: In my view, this - -  

C0MM:ISSIONER GARC!IA: In other words, if 

FPC came in tomorrow and said, llI1ve got a brand new 

- -  the same plant Duke is going to build, I've got it 

for you, and it's only going to cost the ratepayers X 

dollars. 

WITNESS :NESBITT: Yes. At this point in 

time, this is a comimodity. My own personal view is, 

why rate-base a comimodity where there's strong 

question whether it's a natural monopoly? 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: What if they came in 

and they said they could give $18.50 to the ratepayers 

similar to what Duke did with New Smyrna? If they 

come .in a killer price, with a gift horse price to the 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS , INC. 
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ratepayers of Florida, in that case should we take 

it? 

WITNESS NESBITT: I would think pretty 

strongly about that. But the next question I would 

ask is, "Where does the capital cost go? Which 

account are you going to stick it on? Where is it on 

your balance sheet? Show me the capital costs. Show 

me the corporate structure that segregates it from the 

rest of your If they could and would - -  

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: No, no. They don't 

segrelgate it. They're going to put it into rate 

base. They come in here andl say, "We're going to put 

it into rate base, and here's what it's going to cost 

us, 18.50," just like the adlministrator from New 

Smyrna said. You know, you really don't question a 

price like that. 

WITNESS :NESBITT: I wouldn't do it. To me, 

there's too much - -  what we talked about earlier, 

Averclh-Johnson ince:ntive. The Averch-Johnson 

incentive is, if I put something in rate base, I'm 

letting you earn on it. That gives you far more 

incentive if you're a regulated incumbent. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: So then you don't 

think the decision - -  

WITNESS ISIESBITT: I don't think - -  

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC . 
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COMMISSIONER GARCIA: - - that New Smyrna 

made was a good one? Why doesn't New Smyrna just - -  I 

mean, if this brave new worltd is coming, why does New 

Smyrna sign an 18.50 contract for 30 megawatts? Why 

not stay out there and play the market, which you are 

about to make profitable for them? 

WITNESS NESBITT: Okay. Let me answer the 

first question again. Maybe I gave the wrong answer 

there, or I mischaracterized what I feel. I believe a 

regulated entity has a systematically higher cost 

structure than an unregulated entity. So all else 

equal, if you're comparing a. regulated incumbent with 

an unregulated merchant, both purporting to build the 

same capacity, I submit to you they're not the same 

capacity, and itls not the same market structure under 

which they're proposing to build it. That was the 

first point. 

The second point is, anybody, New Smyrna 

Beach or anybody else, they've got to make an 

assessment based on the energy price and the capacity 

price that's offered to them., whether that's a market 

transaction in whic:h they want to engage. It's a very 

thin market now, so it's risky to make that assessment 

relative to a highly liquid market where those prices 

are posted all the (time. 
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To me, that's a market transaction between 

New Smyrna Beach and the plant. But it's a market 

transaction. There's no guarantee when the plant is 

built that they're going to be able to flow their 

costs through except at the posted price of the 

capacity and the energy, the 18.50 that we talked 

about. It's a killer price. 

If you can do the same thing with a 

regulated entity, you're doing something that no one 

else has ever been able to 610. You don't have the 

discipline of the market driving down the capital and 

operating costs of that unit. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Well, I've got you. 

WITNESS NESBITT: I want the - -  

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: I've got you, 

thoug:h. I've got you sittin.g out there. So FPC is 

saying, "Well, the only way I'm going to get this - -  

we've got super efficient Duke out there, and the only 

way I'm going to get this into rate base and sort of 

protect myself and my ratepayers, which I have a duty" 

- -  because we've discussed this scenario with - -  or 

I've discussed this scenario with Staff. And they 

come in to Mr. Jenkins in our Electric Division and 

say, ''All right. Well, you know, 18.50 is just 

impossible. We all know that the only ones that are 
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going to get that are New Smyrna, because that was 

their window into this operation.ii But FPC comes in 

here and says, ''Twenty bucks, 20 bucks, that's it, 

that's all the ratepayers - - -  and it's part of rate 

base, but that's all we're going to recover." You've 

given us that opportunity. That isn't that bad. 

WITNESS NESBITT: That sounds pretty good. 

And I would submit to you, Commissioner Garcia, the 

reason you're seeing that is: because Duke is sitting 

in that seat offering it. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Oh, absolutely. 

WITNESS NESBITT: And that's the benefit of 

having a merchant fringe. You need to control the 

size (of it. I don't dispute that. And that's a hard 

problem. I'm glad you've gat it and not me. It's a 

very difficult problem, but it's not an insoluble 

problem, because the market keeps bringing you 

information. 

My view is, you should approve this right 

now aind get on with the business of letting Duke bring 

you its information so that you can discipline the 

incumbents and any other entrants that might come to 

the state. You're laboring right now under 

conceptions that have imperfect information in them. 

Why not get the information? It doesn't cost you a 
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darn thing to get it, and everybody benefits when you 

get it. You still have control. You don't have to 

throw out the old regulatory fabric. 

COMMISSIONER CLARK: Dr. Nesbitt, along 

those lines, let me ask you if you're familiar with 

our broker system. 

WITNESS NESBITT: I'm sorry. With your 

what? 

COMMISSIONER CLARK: With Florida's broker 

sys t e,m. 

WITNESS NESBITT: I'm not familiar with the 

specific institution, no. 

C0MM:ISSIONER CLARIK: Well, we Ive had 

wholesale competition for a long time, since the late 

' 7 0 s ,  but it's done on a cost basis as opposed to a 

price basis. We require utilities to bid in their 

price,s for electricity on an hour-by-hour basis, and 

then we match up high and low bidders. And then they 

split the savings bletween them, and then they have to 

- -  and then the shareholders get to keep some of that 

savings, and the ratepayers get some of it. So we 

thouglht we gave thein the right incentives to 

participate in that market. 

Do we have to change that if we are going 

to have merchant plants? 
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WITNESS NESBITT: It will probably change 

itself. But I don't know the answer to your question, 

because I don't: kno'w the brokerage system. But let me 

tell you, when you - -  I'm going to caricature this. 

When you put a socialist between two capitalists - -  

and that's a caricature, two willing parties who want 

to do business, but you put a framework between them 

and you siphon off part of the benefits that would 

otherwise go to the market, 

play as aggressively as they would if you didn't do 

that. 

somebody is not going to 

Suppose you did that on Wall Street. 

Suppose we said., "Hey, Dr. Nesbitt, you know what 

we're going to do? We're going to regulate Wall 

Street, and we're going to hLave a high-low bid on 3M 

stock, and then what we're going to do is, we're going 

to average it up,  and Nesbitt, you get half of it.!' 

You k:now, I would say, "Oh, man, I'm going to 3M. I'm 

just going to buy the stock directly." 

So my guess is yolu will have to change it 

sometime, but I don't think Duke New Smyrna is going 

to ma:ke you change it. It's too small. 

COMMISSIONER CLARK: But is it appropriate 

to have some players in the market having to bid in 

their cost, their I guess regulated cost, as opposed 
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to bidding in their price, and is it reasonable to 

make a distinction on how they play in that market, 

depending on whether the particular plant is in rate 

base or is not in rate base? 

WITNESS NESBITT: Well, those are difficult 

questions that I'm not prepared to answer in detail 

now. But let me tell you some of the experience that 

you've seen in places like the California PX. And the 

market is a little bit too thin, it's a little bit 

imperfect, there's too many rules, and it doesn't work 

very 'well. I think it works; poorly. It's only 24 

hours out. You need to be 168 hours out. There's 

private sector exchanges that will take you 168 hours 

out right now, but they're being precluded from entry. 

That's an interesting indication. If you 

set up an administrative type solution like that, 

usual.ly what you fi:nd is that when you have a more 

liquid, a deeper, a more aggressive and more complete 

market, it tends to evolve towards nonparticipation by 

the administrator w:ho set it up. That's just an 

empirical observation. 

COMMISSIONER CLARK: You mean the more 

competition you have, the less you need to intervene? 

WITNESS IVESBITT: That has been the 

empir:ical experience, yes. Margins go paper thin. 
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COMMISSIONER CLARK: Okay. 

MR. McGLOTHLIN: I have no further 

questions. 

Madam Chairman, 1: believe the prefiled 

exhibits were identified as 18, and there was some 

confusion on that, and I would like to confirm that's 

the case. I move Dr. Nesbitt's prefiled direct 

exhibits, which. I believe are identified as 18. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: Show those admitted 

without objection. 

(Exhibit 18 was received in evidence.) 

MR. McGLOTHLIN: Also, Chairman Johnson - -  

MR. GUYTON: Madam Chairman, I don't want 

to waive the objection that I raised yesterday as to 

DMN-7. I want to preserve that. I don't want to 

reargue it again. I just want to make sure that the 

record reflects that that obljection has been made, and 

we haven I t waived. 

Now that I understand Exhibit 19 is 

Dr. Nesbitt's handout, I include in that motion an 

exclusion of page 13, which is a discussion of DMN-7. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: Okay. Show those noted 

for the record and overruled. 

MR. McGLOTHLIN: In addition, Chairman 

Johnson, the handout was originally intended as simply 
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kind of a visual aid, but many references have been 

made to it, and I think it would be appropriate to 

mark that as an exhibit also. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON:: We did, 19. 

MR. McGLOTHLIN: I beg your pardon. Then I 

move Exhibit 19. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: Okay. Show that 

admitted over the objection. 

(Exhiibit 19 was received in evidence. ) 

MR. GUYTON: Move! Exhibit 20. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: Show Exhibit 20 admitted 

without ob j ec t ion. 

(Exh.ibit 20 was received in evidence. ) 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: Anything else? 

Thank you, sir. We're going to take a 

ten-minute break. 

(Short recess. ) 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: Let's go back on the 

record. Mr. Wiggins? 

MR. WIGGINS: I call to the stand Martha 

Hesse. 

MARTHA 0. HESSE 

assumed the stand a,s a witness on behalf of Utilities 

Commission, City of New Smyrna Beach, Florida, and 
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Duke Energy N e w  Smyrna Beach P o w e r  Company, L td .  , 

L . L . P .  and,  having  been p r e v i o u s l y  sworn, t e s t i f i e d  a s  

f o l l o ~ w s :  

D I R E C T  EXAM I N A T  I ON 

BY M R .  W I G G I N S : :  

Q S t a t e  yclur name and a d d r e s s ,  p l e a s e .  

A Martha H:esse, 6 5 2 4  San F e l i p e ,  Hous ton ,  

Texas 7 7 0 5 7 .  

Q And by whom a re  you employed, and i n  what 

p o s i t  i o n ?  

A I ' m  t h e  president:  of Hesse G a s  Company. 

Q And y o u ' r e  appea r ing  on beha l f  of t h e  j o i n t  

p e t i t i o n e r s  t h i s  morning? 

A That: s c o r r e c t .  

Q Did you cause  t o  be p repa red  and f i l e d  i n  

t h i s  docket  23 pages of d i r e c t  t es t imony?  

A Y e s .  

Q D o  you h.ave any changes t o  make t o  t h a t  

t es t imony?  

A 

page 1 8 .  

Q Which l i n e ?  

A L i n e  12, t o  r e p l a c e  t h e  words 'la r e a l i s t i c f 1  

w i t h  t h e  word "one .  I1 

Q So i t  wcluld now r e a d ,  " I n  one s c e n a r i o v 1 ?  

Y e s ,  I d.0. I have one change t o  r e q u e s t  on 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, I N C .  
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A T h a t :  s c o r r e c t .  

Q D o  you h.ave any o t h e r  changes? 

A N o .  

Q I f  1: were t o  a s k  you t h e  q u e s t i o n s  

con ta ined  i n  this w r i t t e n  tes t imony today,  would your  

answers  be t h e  same as  w r i t t e n ?  

A Y e s .  

MR. W I G G I N S :  M a d a m  C h a i r m a n ,  I move t h a t  

h e r  p r e f i l e d  w r i t t e n  t e s t imony  as  e d i t e d  be i n s e r t e d  

i n t o  t h e  record  as  though read.  

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON::  I t  w i l l  be s o  i n s e r t e d .  

MR. W I G G I N S :  Thank you.  

ACCURATE STENOTYPE R E P O R T E R S ,  I N C .  
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IN RE: JOINT PETITION FOR DETERMINATION OF NEED 
BY THE UTILITIES COMMISSION OF NEW SMYRNA BEACH 
AND DUKE ENERGY NEW SMYRNA BEACH POWER COMPANY, 

FPSC DOCKET NO. 981042-EM 

DIRECT TISSTIMONY OF MARTHA 0. HESSE 

Q: P lease  s t a t e  your name and business  address.  

A: My name is Martha 0 .  Hesse, and my business address is 6524  

San Felipe, No. 129, Houston, Texas 77057.  

Q: 

A: 

By whom are you employed and i n  what pos i t ion?  

I am president of Hesse Gas Company. 

the boards of directors of several companies in the energy, 

public utility,, life insurance, health care, and 

transportation industries, including Arizona Public Service 

Company, Pinnacle West Capital Corporation, Laidlaw Inc., 

Mutual Trust Life Insurance Company, and Air & Water 

Technologies Corporation. I am a member of The Beacon 

Council and the CIGNA Utilities Advisory Board. 

I am also currently on 

QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE 

Q: Please  summarixe your educational  background and experience .  

A: I attended the University of Iowa and Northwestern 

University. I received a Master of Business Administration 

degree from the University of Chicago in 1979. 

Q: Please summarixe your employment h i s t o r y  and work 

experience.  

1 
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A: My first job was as a research analyst for the National 

Blue Shield Association from 1964 to 1966. In 1966, I 

became Director of Data Management for the American 

Hospital Association. I was the co-founder in 1969 of 

SEI Information Technology ("SEI"), a data processing 

consulting com:pany that we built into a multi-million 

dollar operation. I was the chief operating officer and 

a director of SEI from 1969 until 1981. 

In 1981, I was appointed Associate Deputy Secretary of 

the Department of Commerce by President Ronald Reagan. In 

1982, I was named Executive Director of the President's Task 

Force on Management Reform and led the review of all major 

federal government management systems that resulted in 

"Reform '88," the Reagan administration's initiative to 

improve management of the federal government. 

In November 1982, the President nominated and the 

Senalte confirmed me the Assistant Secretary for Management 

and Administration for the U.S. Department of Energy (the 

"DOE:"). In that position, I was the department's principal 

business officer and was responsible for the DOE's annual 

budget, departmental financial activities including the 

depalrtment's $ 2 3  billion annual cash flow, the department's 

17,000 employees and 115,000 contractor employees, its 3 

million acres of land and 94 million square feet of 

facilities valued at more than $33 billion, and the DOE's 
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n e a r l y  $10 b i l l i o n  of p e r s o n a l  property i n c l u d i n g  t h e  

d e p a r t m e n t ' s  c o m p u t e r  a n d  t e l e c o m m u n i c a t i o n s  systems which  

u t i l i z e d  t h e  f i r s t  s a t e l l i t e  communica t ions  system f o r  s u c h  

a n  algency. I was a l s o  t h e  l i n e  manager  r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  

p ro jec t  management of t h e  D0E: 's  460 ac t ive  pro jec ts  as w e l l  

as a l l  DOE proc!urement  , c o n t r a c t i n g  a n d  c o n s t r u c t i o n .  

I n  1986,  I: was n o m i n a t e d  a n d  c o n f i r m e d  as Chai rman of 

t h e  :Federal Energy  R e g u l a t o r y  Commission ( "FERC" ) , a n  

i n d e p e n d e n t  conuniss ion  r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  r e g u l a t i n g  i n t e r s t a t e  

n a t u : r a l  gas, e l e c t r i c  , hydropower  , a n d  o i l  p i p e l i n e  

b u s i : n e s s .  I w a s  Chai rman when t h e  FERC i n i t i a t e d  broad 

refo:rms d e s i g n e d  t o  move t h e  n a t u r a l  gas a n d  e l e c t r i c  

i n d m t r i e s  from a s t r i c t l y  r e g u l a t e d  e n v i r o n m e n t  t o  o n e  much 

more m a r k e t - d r i v e n  a n d  m a r k e t , - r e s p o n s i v e .  I w a s  r e a p p o i n t e d  

Chairman by P r e s i d e n t  Bush a n d  r e m a i n e d  as Chai rman t h r o u g h  

1989 .  

I n  1 9 9 0 ,  I: j o i n e d  F i r s t  C h i c a g o  C o r p o r a t i o n  as a s e n i o r  

v i c e - p r e s i d e n t .  I was r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  d e s i g n i n g  a n d  

i m p l e m e n t i n g  communica t ions  s t ra teg ies  r e l a t i n g  t o  

a d v e r t i s i n g ,  i n v e s t o r  r e l a t i o n s  , a n d  media a n d  p u b l i c  

r e l a t i o n s .  A l s o  i n  l a t e  1990,  I formed Hesse G a s  Company t o  

e n g a g e  i n  t h e  n a t u r a l  gas m a r k e t i n g  b u s i n e s s .  

23 Q: Have you previous ly  t e s t i f i e d  before regulatory a u t h o r i t i e s  

e 24 or courts? 

3 
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While  I w a s  a membe:c of t h e  Reagan a n d  Bush a d m i n i s t r a t i o n s ,  

I t e s t i f i e d  frerquenlzly b e f o r e  t h e  U n i t e d  States  C o n g r e s s  o n  

a va r i e ty  o f  e n e r g y  p o l i c y  i s s u e s .  S i n c e  l e a v i n g  

Wash ing ton ,  I hLave t e s t i f i e d  i n  o n e  r e g u l a t o r y  l ega l  

p r o c e e d i n g ,  a n a t u r a l  gas " t a k e  o r  pay" case o n  b e h a l f  of 

Texaco b e f o r e  a.n a d m i n i s t r a t i v e  p a n e l .  

SUMMARY AND PURPOSE OF TESTIMONY 

What i s  the  purpose of your testimony? 

I a m  t e s t i f y i n g  on  b e h a l f  of t h e  U t i l i t i e s  Commission,  C i t y  

o f  New Smyrna B e a c h ,  F l o r i d a  ( " U C N S B "  ) , a n d  Duke E n e r g y  New 

Smyrna Beach Power Company L t d . ,  LLP ( "Duke N e w  S m y r n a " ) ,  

t h e  j o i n t  a p p l i c a n t s  f o r  t h e  Flor ida P u b l i c  Service 

Commiss ion ' s  d e t e r m . i n a t i o n  of n e e d  f o r  t h e  New Smyrna Beach  

Power P r o j e c t  ( " t h e  P r o j e c t " ) .  

My t e s t i m o n y  addresses t h e  po l icy  i s s u e s  r e l a t i n g  t o  

t h e  :Project and, m e r c h a n t  power p l a n t s  g e n e r a l l y ,  i n c l u d i n g  

t h e i r  c o n s i s t e n c y  w i t h  economic  e f f i c i e n c y ,  w i t h  f e d e r a l  

e n e r g y  p o l i c y ,  a n d  w i t h  t h e  f u n d a m e n t a l  p u r p o s e s  of u t i l i t y  

r e g u l a t i o n ,  as w e l l  as w i t h  t h e  c u r r e n t  s t r u c t u r e  of t h e  

e l e c t r i c  u t i l i t y  i n d u s t r y  i n  t h e  U n i t e d  States .  

Please summarize your testimony. 

The New Smyrna Beach Power P ro jec t ,  as a power s u p p l y  

p ro j ec t  f o r  t h e  U t i I L i t i e s  C o n m i s s i o n  of N e w  Smyrna Beach  a n d  

4 
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as a m e r c h a n t  power p l a n t  t o  be c o n s t r u c t e d  i n  P e n i n s u l a r  

F lo r ida ,  i s  f u l l y  c o n s i s t e n t  w i t h  federal e n e r g y  po l i cy ,  

economic  e f f i c i e n c y ,  a n d  t h e  basic p u r p o s e s  of u t i l i t y  

r e g u l a t i o n ,  i . e . ,  t o  promote competit ive a n d  e f f i c i e n t  

resource a l l o c a t i o n s .  The  Picoject a l s o  f i t s  pe r fec t ly  i n t o  

t h e  ( c u r r e n t  e l e c t r i c  u t i l i t y  i n d u s t r y  a n d  w i l l  serve as w e l l  

i n  any f u t u r e  e l e c t r i c  i n d u s t r y  s t r u c t u r e .  I t  wou ld  be 

i n c o n s i s t e n t  w i t h  s o u n d  e n e r g y  po l i cy  a n d  economic  

e f f i l c i e n c y  t o  e x c l u d e  m e r c h a n t  p l a n t s ,  s u c h  as t h e  N e w  

Smyrna Beach  Power  P r o j e c t ,  from p a r t i c i p a t i n g  i n  t h e  

F lor ida  w h o l e s a l e  power m a r k e t .  To d e n y  t h e  b e n e f i t s  of 

m e r c h a n t  p l a n t s  t o  t h e  c i t i z e n s  of F lo r ida  would  be unwise ,  

u n f a i r ,  a n d  c e r t a i n l y  i n c o n s i s t e n t  w i t h  t h e  r e g u l a t o r y  goal 

of p r o t e c t i n g  a n d  p r o m o t i n g  t h e  p u b l i c  i n t e r e s t .  

BACKGROUND - MERCHANT POWER PLANTS AND THE 
NEW SMYRNA BEACH POWER PROJECT 

P l e a s e  summarize your understanding of the  New Smyrna B e a c h  

P o w e r  P r o j e c t .  

I a m  i n f o r m e d  hy t h e  UCNSB a n d  Duke New Smyrna t h a t  t h e  N e w  

Smyr:na Beach Power  P ro jec t  i s  t o  be a 500 MW-class gas-fired 

combined cyc le  power p l a n t  located i n  N e w  Smyrna Beach ,  

V o l u s i a  Coun ty ,  F lo r ida .  T h e  P r o j e c t  w i l l  be owned by Duke 

E n e r g y  New Smyrna Beach  Power Company L t d . ,  L.L.P. ,  wh ich  i s  

a n  a : f f i l i a t e  of Duke E n e r g y  I?ower Services,  LLC, a n d  a 

s u b s i d i a r y  of m k e  Energy  C o r p o r a t i o n .  A d d i t i o n a l l y ,  30 MW 

5 
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of t:he Project's output capacity will be provided to the 

Utilities Commj-ssion of New Smyrna Beach ("UCNSB") as 

"entitlement 'I capacity pursuant to a Participation Agreement 

between Duke New Smyrna and the UCNSB. The balance of the 

Project's capacity .will be made available, for wholesale 

sales at market-based rates, to other wholesale purchasers, 

primarily other- utilities in Peninsular Florida. 

What i s  a merchant power p l a n t ,  and what function do 

merchant power p l a n t s  provide i n  t h e  U . S .  energy supply and 

d i s t r i b u t i o n  system? 

While the term "merchant power plant" may be used to 

describe several different arrangements , I would define the 
term to mean an electric generating facility that sells 

power at wholesale con a market basis, i. e. , at market-based 
rates, and for which the plant's owners or builders take all 

capital, investment, operating, and market risk. A merchant 

power plant is not included .in any regulated utility's rate 

base and, accordingly, is not subject to traditional 

regulatory treatment, including the opportunity to earn a 

spec.ified rate of return on investment and the opportunity 

to require "captive" customeics to pay for investment in 

generating plants , regardless of subsequent changes in 
market conditions. 

Merchant power plants function as competitive 

6 
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g e n e r a t o r s  a n d  w h o l e s a l e  s u p p l i e r s  of b u l k  e l e c t r i c  power, 

s e l l i n g  power t o  o t h e r  u t i l i t i e s  wh ich  i n  t u r n  rese l l  t h a t  

power t o  t h e i r  r e t a i l  c u s t o m e r s .  Merchan t  p l a n t s  are 

" p u b l i c  u t i l i t i e s "  s u b j e c t  t o  t h e  j u r i s d i c t i o n  of t h e  FERC; 

as s u c h ,  t h e s e  w h o l e s a l e  p u b l i c  u t i l i t i e s  w i l l ,  l i k e  Duke 

N e w  Smyrna, h a v e  o n  f i l e  a m a r k e t - b a s e d  r a t e  t a r i f f  a n d  w i l l  

f i l e  a l l  of t h e i r  p o w e r  salesl c o n t r a c t s  w i t h  t h e  FERC. 

Merchan t  p l a n t s  a re  n o r m a l l y  E x e m p t  W h o l e s a l e  G e n e r a t o r s ,  

a n d  t h u s  t h e y  a n d  t h e i r  p a r e n t  c o r p o r a t i o n s  a re  exempt from 

r e g u l a t i o n  by t h e  U.S. S e c u r i t i e s  Exchange  Commission u n d e r  

t h e  P u b l i c  U t i l i t y  H o l d i n g  Company A c t  of 1 9 3 5 .  

Please summarize the status of wholesale competition in 

other states and in other countries. 

Many of t h e  c h a r a c t e r i s t i c s  t h a t  led t o  t h e  d e c i s i o n s  s i x t y  

year:; ago t o  r e g u l a t e  t h e  e l e c t r i c  i n d u s t r y  as a " n a t u r a l  

monopoly" h a v e  c h a n g e d  s i g n i f i c a n t l y  over t h e  pas t  t w e n t y  

year:;. A s  a r e s u l t , ,  economic! forces  h a v e  e f f e c t i v e l y  made 

t h e  power g e n e r a t i o n  sector  of t h e  i n d u s t r y  competit ive 

today, a n d  t h e r e  i s  every realson t o  expect t h a t  c o m p e t i t i o n  

w i l l  c o n t i n u e  t o  c h a r a c t e r i z e  t h e  g e n e r a t i o n  sec tor  i n  t h e  

f u t u r e  . 
Wholesale c o m p e t i t i o n  i s8  r o b u s t  a n d  f l o u r i s h i n g  i n  

n e a r l y  every s t a t e  i n  t h e  U n i t e d  States ,  as w e l l  as i n  

Canada a n d  E u r o p e .  G r e a t  B r i t a i n  h a s  completely r e o r g a n i z e d  

7 
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i t s  e l ec t r i c  i n d u s t r y ,  a n d  i n  d o i n g  so  h a s  provided f o r  a 

fu l1 :y  competit ive w h o l e s a l e  s e c t o r  o f  i t s  power i n d u s t r y .  

C o u n t r i e s  as d i v e r s e  as Thai:Land a n d  t h e  P h i l i p p i n e s  h a v e  

a l so  begun  t o  u s e  c l o m p e t i t i v e  mechanisms t o  a c q u i r e  new 

power s u p p l i e s .  

F o r  t h e  pas t  t w e n t y  years,  t h e  vas t  major i ty  o f  new 

g e n e r a t i o n  i n  t h i s  c o u n t r y  h a s  b e e n  p r o v i d e d  by non- 

t r a d i t i o n a l  competit ive s o u r c e s .  I n d e e d ,  p a s s a g e  o f  t h e  

P u b l i c  U t i l i t y  R e g u l a t o r y  PoILicies A c t  i n  1978  e f fec t ive ly  

declared t h a t  e l e c t r i c  g e n e r a t i o n  w a s  no l o n g e r  a n a t u r a l  

monopoly.  The N a t i o n  ' s e x p e r i e n c e  w i t h  PURPA h a s  

d e m o n s t r a t e d  i n v e s t o r s  ' w i l l i n g n e s s  t o  p u t  t h e i r  c ap i t a l  t o  

work b u i l d i n g  p o w e r  g e n e r a t i o n  f a c i l i t i e s  -- e v e n  w i t h o u t  

t h e  p r o t e c t i o n s  of c o s t - p l u s  r e g u l a t i o n  and  a service 

f r a n c h i s e .  Wholesale m e r c h a n t  g e n e r a t o r s ,  be t h e y  FERC- 

r e g u l a t e d  w h o l e s a l e  p u b l i c  u t i l i t i e s ,  i n c l u d i n g  b o t h  EWGs 

a n d  inon-EWG p u b l i c  u t i l i t i e s  ,, o r  Q u a l i f y i n g  F a c i l i t i e s  

( " Q F i s " ) ,  are  w i . l l i n g  t o  t a k e  r i s k s  i n  r e t u r n  f o r  u n c e r t a i n  

rewards by e x p a n d i n g  t h e  f i e l d  o f  power s u p p l y  " p l a y e r s "  a n d  

p r o v i d i n g  a more syinmetrical d i s t r i b u t i o n  of  r i s k  be tween  

power p r o d u c e r s  a n d  ratepayers. 

P u r s u a n t  to thle E n e r g y  P o l i c y  A c t  o f  1992,  c o m p e t i t i o n  

i n  wlho le sa l e  power g e n e r a t i o n  i s  o n e  of t h e  express goals o f  

n a t i o n a l  e n e r g y  po l i cy ,  a n d  it i s  t h u s  e f f e c t i v e l y  t h e  l a w  

of t l h e  l a n d .  

8 
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Q: 

A: M e r c h a n t  p l a n t s  are c u r r e n t l y  o p e r a t i n g  i n  C a l i f o r n i a ,  

Where are merchant p l a n t s  current ly  operating i n  t h e  U . S . ?  

Colorado, C o n n e c t i c u t ,  Maine ,  M a s s a c h u s e t t s ,  Texas, a n d  

W i s c o n s i n .  Merchant; p l a n t s  are  e i the r  p l a n n e d  o r  u n d e r  

c o n s t r u c t i o n  i n  many o t h e r  st.ates. A d d i t i o n a l l y ,  many 

e x i s t i n g  r e t a i l - s e r v i n g  u t i l i t i e s  h a v e  announced  p l a n s  t o  

s e l l  o r  h a v e  already so ld  some o r  a l l  of t h e i r  power p l a n t s  

t o  e n t i t i e s  t h a t  w i l l  operate them as m e r c h a n t  p l a n t s .  

Several e x i s t i n g  re ta i l -serving u t i l i t i e s ,  s u c h  as P a c i f i c  

G a s  SI E l e c t r i c ,  h a v e  e s t a b l i s ' h e d  s u b s i d i a r i e s  t o  p u r c h a s e  

a n d  operate as m e r c h a n t  p1an t . s  t h e  f a c i l i t i e s  of o t h e r  

r e g u l a t e d  u t i l i t i e s  

Q: Where are merchant p l a n t s  current ly  under construct ion i n  

t h e  V.S.? 

A: M e r c h a n t  power p l a n t s  are  c u r r e n t l y  u n d e r  c o n s t r u c t i o n  i n  

C o n n e c t i c u t ,  M a s s a c h u s e t t s ,  Texas a n d  Nevada. P l a n s  f o r  

a d d i t . i o n a 1  m e r c h a n t  power p l a n t s  have b e e n  announced  f o r  

C a l i f o r n i a ,  Ma ine ,  P l a s s a c h u s e t t s ,  M i s s i s s i p p i ,  M i s s o u r i ,  N e w  

Hampsh i re ,  N o r t h  C a r o l i n a ,  Oregon,  P e n n s y l v a n i a ,  Rhode 

I s l a n d ,  Texas, a n d  V i r g i n i a .  

2 1  Q: Would any special ac:commodations be required to  permit 

2 2  merchant p l a n t s  t o  operate i n  the  Flor ida  wholesale  market? 

23 A: N o .  The FERC-regu la t ed  p u b l i c  u t i l i t i e s  t h a t  operate 

9 
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m e r c h a n t  p l a n t s  wou ld  operate j u s t  l i k e  a n y  o t h e r  u t i l i t y  

w i t h  power t o  s e l l  i n  w h o l e s a l e  m a r k e t s ,  a n d  would  o f f e r  

power f o r  s a l e  p u r s u a n t  t o  c o n t r a c t s  s imi la r  t o  t h o s e  t h a t  

a l ready e x i s t  b e t w e e n  p u r c h a s i n g  u t i l i t i e s  a n d  o t h e r  

u t i l i t i e s  s e l l i n g  at: wholesa1 .e .  

6 Q: Would a state or a relevant market have to have an 

7 

8 

Independent System Operator to accommodate merchant plant 

transactions in the wholesale bulk power market? 

9 A: N o .  M e r c h a n t  p l a n t s  owned an.d operated by a FERC-regu la t ed  

10 p u b l i c  u t i l i t y  f i t  i n t o  t h e  c u r r e n t  w h o l e s a l e  power m a r k e t  

11 

1 2  s e l l  a t  w h o l e s a l e .  

t h e  same as a n y  o t h e r  power p l a n t  o r  u t i l i t y  w i t h  power t o  
,- 

13 Q: 

14 

15 

16 A: 

17 

18 

19 

2 0  

2 1  

22 

/- 2 3  

What, if any, relationship does wholesale competition have 

to the issues of deregulation, retail restructuring, or 

retail competition? 

Bas ica l ly ,  n o n e .  W h o l e s a l e  c o m p e t i t i o n  i n  power s u p p l y  

m a r k e t s  c a n  a n d  does e x i s t  w i t h  o r  w i t h o u t  r e t a i l  

c o m p e t i t i o n .  

p u b l i c  i n t e r e s t ,  w h o l e s a l e  c o m p e t i t i o n  c a n  a n d  s h o u l d  be 

allowed -- a n d  e n c o u r a g e d  -- t o  f u n c t i o n  f r e e l y  i n  m a r k e t s ,  

s u c h  as F lo r ida ' s ,  w h e r e  t h e  c u r r e n t  r e t a i l  m a r k e t  i s  

c h a r a c t e r i z e d  b y  t r a d i t i o n a l  ra te  r e g u l a t i o n ,  as w e l l  as i n  

o t h e r  m a r k e t s  w h e r e  v a r i o u s  degrees o f  r e t a i l  c o m p e t i t i o n  

T o  protect  capt ive  ratepayers a n d  p r o m o t e  t h e  

10 
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may e x i s t .  

W h o l e s a l e  c o m p e t i t i o n  already ex is t s  -- a n d  f l o u r i s h e s  

-- i n  power m a r k e t s  t h r o u g h o u t  t h e  U . S .  a n d  Canada .  I n d e e d ,  

t h e r e  i s  alreadly some w h o l e s a l e  c o m p e t i t i o n  i n  F l o r i d a  among 

v e r t i c a l l y  i n t e g r a t e d  p u b l i c  u t i l i t i e s  a n d  m u n i c i p a l  

u t i l i t i e s ,  w h o l e s a l e  p u b l i c  u t i l i t i e s ,  a n d  QFs t h a t  have 

extra  capaci ty  t o  s e l l  a t  v a r i o u s  t imes.  Robus t  c o m p e t i t i o n  

ex is t s  w h e r e  b a r r i e r s  t o  e n t e r i n g  t h e  w h o l e s a l e  m a r k e t  are 

min ima l  o r  n o n - e x i s t e n t ;  w h e r e  p o t e n t i a l  s u p p l i e r s '  access 

t o  t h e  w h o l e s a l e  power market .  i s  l imi t ed  o r  r e s t r i c t ed  i n  

a n y  way, c o m p e t i t i o n  c a n n o t  be said t o  be r o b u s t .  

I n  summary, m e r c h a n t  p l a m t s  c a n  a n d  do e x i s t  i n  c u r r e n t  

w h o l e s a l e  m a r k e t s ,  completely i n d e p e n d e n t  of t h e  e x i s t e n c e  

o r  n o n - e x i s t e n c e  of r e t a i l  c o m p e t i t i o n .  

CONSISTENCY OF THE NEW SMYRNA BEACH POWER PROJECT 
WITH FEDERAL ENERGY POLICY 

Please  summarize t h e  key  elements of federal  energy policy 

t h a t  are  re l evant  to  merchant. power p l a n t s .  

A t  l e a s t  s i n c e  t h e  passage of t h e  P u b l i c  U t i l i t y  R e g u l a t o r y  

P o l i c i e s  A c t  of 1978 ,  t h e  Congress and  t h e  FERC h a v e  favored 

c o m p e t i t i o n  i n  t h e  s u p p l y  of b u l k  e l e c t r i c i t y  i n  t h e  U n i t e d  

States .  T h i s  p o l i c y  o b j e c t i v e  w a s  ca r r ied  forward a n d  

expanded  i n  t h e  E n e r g y  P o l i c y  A c t  of 1992,  w h e r e i n  C o n g r e s s  

f u r t h e r  acted t o  promote c o r n p e t i t i o n  i n  w h o l e s a l e  power 

supp:ty by c r e a t i n g  t i  new r e g u l a t o r y  category of s u p p l i e r s ,  

11 
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"Exempt Wholesale Generators," which are power plants that 

may 'be owned by utilities without subjecting those utilities 

to regulation under the Publ.ic Utility Holding Company Act 

of 1935. (It ~ L S  this exemption from holding company 

regulation that; the term "exempt" refers to. ) 

In the Energy Policy Act, Congress also acted to assure 

access of all wholesale power suppliers to transmission 

facilities, for the purpose of promoting more robust and 

free competition in power supply. FERC implemented this 

policy directive by its Order No. 888, and continues to 

extend and refine these policies by imposing pro-competition 

requirements at: every opportunity. 

In summary, it is clear that for the past 20 years, 

federal energy policy has favored and encouraged competition 

in the wholesalLe generation and supply of electricity in the 

Unitsed States. 

Q: I s  t h e  presence or e x i s t e n c e  of merchant power p l a n t s ,  such 

as  t h e  New Smyirna Beach P o w e r  Project, c o n s i s t e n t  with  

f edera l  energy p o l i c y ?  Please exp la in .  

A: Absolutely. The existence of merchant power plants, such as 

the Project, promotes competition among power sources with 

the effects of lowering costs to consumers, shifting risks 

from ratepayers to investors, and encouraging a rational, 

symmetrical risk-reward balance. 

1 :2 
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Would limiting the ability OX merchant plant developers to 

construct plants to sell power in wholesale markets make any 

sense in light of the federal policies and policy goals 

established by the Energy Policy Act of 1992? 

Absolutely not,, Excluding merchant power plants from 

participating in the Florida wholesale market, or, for that 

matter, in any other wholesale market, would be inconsistent 

with and contrary to federal energy policy. Additionally, 

even limiting or restricting the participation of merchant 

power plants in the Florida wholesale market, e.g., by 

requiring merchant plant developers to enter into contracts 

with existing retail utilities as a condition of building a 

power plant in Florida, w o u l d  also be inconsistent with and 

contrary to federal energy policy. 

CONSRSTENCY WITH ECONOMIC EFFICIENCY 

Q: Please explain what is meant by "economic efficiency." 

A: Economic efficiency exists where resources are allocated in 

such a way that: no further increases in production of one 

commodity or good can be obtained from reallocating 

resources without sacrificing production of something else. 

As a general proposition, a competitive market result will 

be economically efficient. In competitive markets, there 

are no barriers to entry preventing willing and able 

competitors from entering a market, and no monopoly power or 

1 :3 



977 

,-- DIRECT TESTIMONY OF MARTHA 0 .  HESSE 

1 other constraints resulting .in higher prices and lower 

2 output quantities than a competitive market would achieve. 

3 Also, competitive markets provide correct price signals 

4 between and among buyers and sellers, i.e., price signals 

5 that lead to an efficient or "optimal" allocation of 

6 resources and products. It .is for these reasons that 

7 competitive markets, and competitive market results or 

8 outcomes, are considered to he "good" and highly desirable. 

9 Q: 

10 

11 A: 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

2 0  

21 

22  

2 3  

,- 2 4  

,- 

Please summarize the benefits of wholesale competition in 

electricity production. 

Competition in the wholesale supply of electricity results 

in lower costs and lower prices than would exist in 

monopolistic 01: less competitive market structures. 

For exampILe, under many scenarios, existing monopoly 

utilities may conduct some form of bidding process for new 

or incremental capacity and energy requirements. As a 

general principle, the more bidders that participate in such 

processes, the lower the finis1 cost to the purchasing 

utility and, presumably, its customers, will be. In a 

bidding regime,, the competition provided by existing 

merchant plants suppresses prices toward levels very close 

to, and in some cases possib.ly below, long run marginal 

cost. 

This effect is especially important in Peninsular 

14 
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Florida because of its relative electrical "isolation" due 

to its limited power import capabilities, which directly 

limits the benefits that can be realized from competition. 

Merchant plants also transfer risk from those who 

normally bear it in the current regulatory regime, i.e., 

captive utility ratepayers, to the merchant plant owner- 

operators. The risks thus transferred include the risks of 

cost overruns and operating risks from existing utilities 

and their captive ratepayers to merchant plant owner- 

operators. 

Q: I s  bidding for new power supp.ly resources sufficient to 

assure the full realization o f  the benefits of wholesale 

competition? 

A: Generally, no. While bidding for new power supplies will 

provide some cornpetitive benefits, if access to the supply 

side of the whojlesale power market is restricted to only 

those who win bidding processes, it is virtually certain 

that ratepayers will not be as; well off as with unrestricted 

access to development of wholesale merchant power plants. 

As I discussed above, the presence of existing, i.e., 

already built arid operating, merchant plants provides 

additional competitive downward pressure on power costs and 

prices that does not exist if the population of potential 

competing suppliers consisted solely of to-be-constructed 

15 
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1 power plants. Moreover, the realization of benefits that 

2 shou:ld derive from bidding depends, integrally, on the 

3 existence of a bidding system that requires bidding for all 

4 new resources; this is not always the case. 

5 Bidding does not necessarily transfer the financial 

6 risk from the captive ratepayers to suppliers, nor does it 

7 guarantee accurate price signals between buyer and seller. 

8 Q: 

9 

10 A: 

11 

12 
/- 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

2 0  

21 

22 

2 3  

P 24 

Are any "dis-benefit.s" or "externality" costs likely to 

result from allowing[ wholesale competition? 

No, enhanced wholesa.le competition does not cause any 

significant dis-benefits or increased "externality" costs. 

In some circumstances not applicable in Florida, 

unfet.tered wholiesale competition in power supply might 

result in additional environmental pollution as prices are 

driven down toward marginal generating cost, if those prices 

do not accurately reflect the cost of environmental 

externalities associated with power generation. (Of course, 

health, safety, and environmental impacts will continue to 

be regulated.) In the case of Florida, where it appears 

that the vast majority of new generating units planned by 

merchant developers and existing utilities alike are to be 

highly efficient gas-fired combined cycle units, it appears 

that the enhanced competition should be expected to reduce 

environmental externalities (pollution). 

16 
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What, i f  any, econoniic b e n e f i t s  i s  t h e  New Smyrna Beach 

Project l i k e l y  to  provide t o  t h e  S t a t e  of Florida and to  

Florida electric customers? 

In general terms, the New Smyrna Beach Project will provide 

direct economic benefits in the form of lower-cost 

electricity to Florida utilities, who would be expected to 

pass those lower power supply costs on to their electric 

customers in the form of lower rates (through fuel 

adjustment charges or purchased power cost recovery 

charges). In this regard, it is important to remember that 

no utility, and no electric customers, are obliged to 

purchase either capacity or energy from the New Smyrna Beach 

Project; other utilities will only buy from the Project when 

such purchases represent lower cost power supply options 

than the cost of other resources. In addition, under 

reasonable assumptions, the existence of the Project will 

provide direct (although perhaps more difficult to quantify) 

econoinic benefits in the form of an additional competitive 

check on the amount that a monopoly utility can charge for 

capacity or energy from a utility-built power plant. More 

generally, lower overall power costs can also be expected to 

have a positive effect on the State's economy. 

The Project can also reasonably be expected to provide 

indirect benefits in the form of a "social welfare gain" by 

producing electricity at a lower marginal cost than other 

17 
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resoiirces (when. it iruns, of c:ourse), and in the form of 

reduced environmental costs, i.e., reduced externalities due 

to pollution, realized when t,he Project’s generation 

displaces oil-fired or coal-fired generation, and even when 

it displaces less-eff icient gas fired generation. 

What i f  merchant p l a n t  developers w e r e  t o  b u i l d  more 

generation capaci ty  i n  Flor ida  than was s t r i c t l y  needed t o  

maintain minimu:m r e L i a b i l i t y  c r i t e r i a ?  

The merchant plants would bear the full economic risk, 

un1ik:e the current s,ituation where the captive ratepayers 

bear virtually all clf the risk. 
on5 

In- ---’ ’akjle. scenario, addressing the possibility of 

several merchant plant developers in Florida building, over 

the next five to ten years, more gas-fired combined cycle 

capacity than iis necessary to meet minimum reliability 

criteria, the result would be suppression of the market 

price of power in the Florida wholesale market, and the 

attendant benefits would accrue to retail electric 

ratepayers. Economically rational merchant plant owner- 

operators would bid prices to sell power at some level above 

their true marginal operating cost; the presence of numerous 

such plants would tend to cause the bid prices, at least 

much of the time, to be closer to that marginal operating 

cost than if there were fewer plants. 

18 
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Thus, the net effect would be, at a minimum, reduced 

wholesale power supply costs to utilities buying the power 

for resale to their retail customers (making the reasonable 

assumption that -- under the existing regulatory regime -- 

those retail-serving utilities would pass the lower power 

supp1.y costs through to their retail customers in the form 

of lower rates). Thus, retail customers would benefit 

directly. 

Economic efficiency would be served as long as the 

standard assumptions of competitive markets were met. The 

chief of these in this case is that externalities must be 

appropriately valued and incorporated into the price of 

electricity. Whether that would be the case with a fleet of 

gas-fired combined cycle plants would be an empirical 

exercise beyond the scope of this testimony, but to the 

extent that thoise units would displace generation from oil- 

fired and less efficient gas-fired capacity, there would at 

a minimum be a reduction in environmental externalities from 

electricity generation in Florida. Thus, while we cannot 

conclude that an "optimal" outcome would be attained, we can 

conclude that electricity would be generated at a lower 

cost, and almost certainly with less environmental 

pollution, than without this hypothetical fleet. I believe 

that any legitimate analysis of the situation would have to 

conclude that this would be a "superior" outcome. 

19 
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1 Also, t h e  presence of add i t iona l  merchant capac i ty  

2 

3 -- e . g . ,  add i t iona l  p ro tec t ion  aga ins t  outages due t o  

4 extreme weather: conlclitions or due t o  unexpected outages of 

5 generat ion f a c i l i t i e s ,  a t  no incremental cos t  t o  e l e c t r i c  

6 customers u n l e s s  t h e i r  r e t a i l - s e r v i n g  u t i l i t i e s  decide t o  

7 u s e  t h e  merchant power resouirces . Additionally,  t h e  

8 c e r t a i n t y  of ava i l ab le  supply from t h e  Pro jec t  w i l l  provide 

9 p ro t ec t ion  aga ins t  t h e  r e l i a b i l i t y  unce r t a in t i e s  a s soc ia t ed  

1 0  w i t h  demand-side management, i . e . ,  aga ins t  t h e  contingencies 

would provide add i t iona l  p ro tec t ion  f o r  se rv ice  r e l i a b i l i t y  

11 t h a t  DSM measures w i l l  not  r e a l i z e  t h e i r  projected demand 

1 2  reduct ions and t h a t  d i s s a t i s f i e d  customers w i l l  terminate  

1 3  t h e i r  p a r t i c i p a t i o n  i n  load management programs. T h i s  i s  

1 4  p a r t i c u l a r l y  important i n  F lor ida ,  where  load management and 

15 i n t e r r u p t i b l e  s e rv i ce  a r e  re:Lied on a s  t h e  majori ty  of 

1 6  p ro jec ted  reserve  margins. 

,- 

17 CONSISTENCY WIIIlH PURPOSES OF UTILITY REGULATION 

18 Q: Please  summarize t h e  b a s i c  purpose or purposes of u t i l i t y  

1 9  regu la t ion .  

20  A: The bas i c  purpc’ses of u t i l i t y  regula t ion  a re  t o  p ro tec t  t h e  

2 1  publ.ic i n t e re s t ,  and t o  promote an economically e f f i c i e n t ,  

22  competit ive r e s u l t  i n  t h e  a l loca t ion  of resources t o  

23 e l e c t r i c i t y  product ion and t o  prevent t h e  exerc ise  of 

0-- 2 4  monopoly power. S t a t ed  d i f f e r e n t l y ,  u t i l i t y  r egu la t ion  i s  

2 0 
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1 i n t e n d e d  t o  serve as a s u r r o g a t e  f o r  c o m p e t i t i o n .  

2 Q: 

3 

4 A: 
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A r e  merchant p l a n t s  c o n s i s t e n t  with these  bas i c  purposes of 

u t i l i t y  regulat ion? 

Y e s .  

t o  come as c lose  as possible ,  i n  a c o n s t r a i n e d  o r  

s t r u c t u r a l l y  i m p e r f e c t  m a r k e t ,  t o  t h e  outcome t h a t  would  be 

a c h i e v e d  i n  a competi t ive m a r k e t .  

are c h a r a c t e r i z e d  b y  numerous se l le rs  a n d  numerous b u y e r s  

( e n o u g h  t h a t  n o  o n e  b u y e r  o r  se l le r  c a n  i n f l u e n c e  t h e  marke t  

p r i c e ) .  M e r c h a n t  power p l a n t s  f i t  p e r f e c t l y  i n t o  t h i s  

paradigm by i n c r e a s i n g  t h e  number of s e l l e r s  o f  e l e c t r i c i t y  

i n  a g i v e n  m a r k e t ,  h e r e  t h e  m a r k e t  f o r  w h o l e s a l e  power i n  

F lo r ida .  They t h e r e f o r e  p r o m o t e  a c o m p e t i t i v e  a n d  

e c o n o m i c a l l y  e f f i c i e n t  r e s u l t ,  a n d  a re  t h e r e f o r e  c o n s i s t e n t  

w i t h  t h e  basic p u r p o s e s  o f  r e g u l a t i o n .  

The basic p u r p o s e  of u t i l i t y  r e g u l a t i o n  i s  t o  attempt 

T r u l y  c o m p e t i t i v e  m a r k e t s  

Moreove r ,  m e r c h a n t  p l a n t s  pose no  r i s k  t o ,  a n d  impose  

no o l b l i g a t i o n  o n ,  e l e c t r i c  c u s t o m e r s .  A s  i n  o t h e r  

competit ive m a r k e t s ,  m e r c h a n t  p l a n t  i n v e s t o r s  t a k e  t h e  r i s k s  

w i t h o u t  a n y  e x p e c t a t i o n  o f  b e i n g  able t o ,  and  w i t h o u t  a n y  

0 p p o : r t u n i t y  t o ,  r e q u i r e  a n y  p u r c h a s e r s  t o  c o v e r  t h e i r  cos t s .  

21 Q: D o e s  t h e  "ob l iga t ion  t o  serve" -- i . e . ,  t o  provide r e t a i l  

22 

/" 23 

electric s e r v i a e  to  any e l i g i b l e  customer request ing same i n  

a r e t a i l - s e r v i n g  u t i l i t y ' s  s e r v i c e  area -- have anything t o  

2 11 
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do with  who should provide t h e  bulk power, or with who 

should be e l i g i b l e  .to b u i l d  power p l a n t s  t o  provide i t ?  

No. It is a separate concept;. Many electric utilities that 

provide retail service, both in Florida and elsewhere, own 

- no power plants; at all. Rather, these utilities rely 

exclusively on power purchased from other utilities, i.e., 

power merchants,. T'he argument that the "obligation to 

serve" vests control over access to the wholesale market in 

existing retail-serving utilities is a red herring. 

Utilities gave up this argument when they started buying and 

selling power hetween and among themselves: it makes no 

difference whether 'the seller of power is another utility 

that serves at retail & wholesale or a utility that sells 

at wholesale only. Consider, for example, the Tennessee 

Valley Authority, the Bonnevj-lle Power Administration, the 

Southeast Power Administration, generation and transmission 

cooperatives, wholesale joint: power projects, and other 

entities that provide bulk power to retail-serving utilities 

in the present wholesale power markets. 

public utilities operating merchant plants are fundamentally 

and functionally no different. than these other, existing 

entities that provide bulk wholesale power to retail-serving 

utilities. 

FERC-regulated 

2 21 
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1 Q: Would wholesale! compet i t ion  hurt retail customers under any 

2 r e a l i s t i c  scenaxio? 

3 A:  AbsoILutely not. The  opposite is true -- customers benefit 

4 from wholesale competition. 

5 Q: Does t h i s  conclude your d i r e c t  testimony? 

6 A: Yes, it does. 

2 3  
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BY MH. WIGGINS: 

Q Ms. Hesse, did you prepare a brief oral 

summary this morning of your written testimony? 

A Yes. 

Q Would you please give it? 

A Well, good morning, Madam Chairman and 

Commissioners. 1t1s a privilege to participate in 

this proceeding. And although, as you know, my 

regulatory experience is at the federal level, I have 

always appreciated the difficult and vital role that 

state utility commissioners play in serving the public 

interest. And it :is, of course, at the state level 

that so much of the critical work is done in 

implementing both :Eederal and state policies. And 

certainly the F1or:ida Public Service Commission enjoys 

a reputation for doing this difficult work with 

distinction. 

The 1992 Energy Policy Act was passed by 

Congress to, among other things, promote additional 

competition in who:lesale electric power markets in 

order to improve the performance, or I should say the 

efficiency of the electric utility industry and to 

secure the lowest possible costs for consumers. 

A merchant power plant is not included in 

any iitilityls rate base, and accordingly, is not 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC. 
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s u b j e c t  t o  t r a d i t i o n a l  r e g u l a t o r y  t r e a t m e n t ,  i n c l u d i n g  

t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y  t o  e a r n  a s p e c i f i e d  r a t e  of r e t u r n  and 

t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y  t o  r e q u i r e  c a p t i v e  cus tomers  t o  pay 

f o r  inves tment  i n  g e n e r a t i n g  p l a n t s ,  r e g a r d l e s s  of 

subsequent  changes i n  marke t  c o n d i t i o n s .  

Who1esa:Le compe t i t i on  i n  power s u p p l y  can  

and does  e x i s t  w i t h  o r  w i thou t  r e t a i l  c o m p e t i t i o n .  

D a l e  N e s b i t t  r e f e r r e d  t o  i t  a s  t h e  coming merchant 

wor ld .  And today ,  most s t a t e s  have a c t i v e  who lesa l e  

marke t s .  They a r e  a c t i v e l y  - -  there  a re  a c t i v e  

r e g i o n a l  power poo:Ls i n  which t h e  IOUs v i g o r o u s l y  

p a r t i c i p a t e .  T h e  mun ic ipa l s  and t h e  co-ops  t h a t  d o n ' t  

have g e n e r a t i o n  of t h e i r  own have long  p a r t i c i p a t e d  i n  

t h e  marke t .  

And there  a r e  a l o t  of v a r y i n g  k ind  of 

s t a t e  examples t h a t  range  from Nevada, which f o r  more 

t h a n  f i v e  y e a r s  har; purchased  more t h a n  5 0 %  of i t s  

power on t h e  open marke t ,  t o ,  s a y ,  San Diego, t h e  

former San Diego G a s  and E l e c t r i c ,  where t h e  former  

chairman,  Tom Pa iga ,  i n  t h e  1980s announced t h a t  he 

would neve r  a g a i n  ] m i l d  a p l a n t ,  and he d i d n ' t ,  and 

has  been s u c c e s s f u l  a t  t h a t  t o  t h e  p o i n t  t h a t  h i s  

company d i d  pu rchase  t h e  l a r g e s t  n a t u r a l  g a s  

d i s t r i b u t o r  i n  t h e  coun t ry ,  Sou the rn  C a l i f o r n i a  Gas, 

and t h a t  c o r p o r a t i o n  i s  now known as  Sempra. And 
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then,. of course, we can go to the whole state of 

California, where the investor-owned utilities have in 

fact divested generation. And Florida Power & Light 

has in fact participated in that and has agreed to 

purchase a number of the plants being sold by Pacific 

Gas (ic Electric. 

So I do hope that my testimony here today 

will be of some use to you in this proceeding. And 

although it's clearly your decision as to whether the 

joint petition is granted, I believe that as a matter 

of public policy, the proposed plant meets the test 

for being in the public interest as intended by 

Congress in the Energy Policy Act. And more 

specifically, it complies with federal policy, it 

promotes competition among power sources, with the 

effect of lowering costs to consumers, shifting risks 

from ratepayers to investors, and encouraging a 

rational, balanced risk-reward relationship. And 

finally, it provides the citizens of Florida with the 

opportunity to have access to a reliable, 

environmentally sound power supply, low cost power 

supp:ly without investment and operational risk. 

Now, I recognize that you have before you 

the difficult issue of how to implement your existing 

state statutes and regulations within the context of 

ACCURATE STENOTYI?E REPORTERS, INC. 
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federal energy po1:icy. And it's certainly not my 

role,, nor would I he so presumptive to tell you how to 

interpret your law and regulations. But I would say 

that I do believe that the citizens of Florida would 

be well served to have the opportunity to reap the 

benefits of merchant plants such as the one before 

you. 

Q And that concludes your summary? 

A It does. 

MR. WIGGINS: The witness is available for 

cross examination. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: Thank you. Mr. Moyle? 

MR. M0Y:LE: Thank you, Madam Chairman. 

CROSS EXAMINATION 

BY MR. MOYLE: 

Q I just want to get something clear. You 

are . - -  and I read your direct testimony. You have a 

tremendous amount of experience as a regulator; isn't 

that correct? 

A Well, as a federal regulator, yes. 

Q And at :FERC, you were chair or a member of 

FERC'? 

A I was tlhe chairm.an of FERC, yes. 

Q For how many years? 

A About tlhree to four, in the mid to late 

ACCZJRATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC. 
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'80s. 

Q And you're providing us with your opinion 

as an expert today; isn't that correct? 

A (Nodding head affirmatively.) I'm 

providing my opinion, and as a resource for federal 

energy policy. 

Q I wanted to ask you some questions with 

respect to page 5 of your direct testimony. You talk 

about: merchant plants. You provided a summary, but I 

want to home in, i : E  I could, on a couple of points 

that you make on page 5 and ask you to expand a little 

bit upon them. 

On page 5, line 7, you make a statement 

that it would be inconsistent with sound energy policy 

to exclude merchant plants from participating in the 

Florfida wholesale market. Why would that be? 

A Well, it would be inconsistent with federal 

energy policy, and I guess for the sake of argument, 

well:L call that sound, but with existing federal 

energy policy enunciated by Congress in the Energy 

Policy Act that war; intended to promote additional 

competition in the wholesale power market in order to 

improve efficiency and to lower costs. So clearly, a 

merchant plant falls within that framework. 

Q So improve efficiency and lower costs. Is 

ACCURATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC. 
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there anything that you're aware of that would not 

apply to the Florida regulatory market with respect to 

merchant plants improving efficiency and lowering 

costs? 

A Well, I know of nothing generally that 

would prevent the implementation of that policy or the 

soundness of that policy. 

Q Maybe it was asked poorly, but in fact, 

merchant plants in Florida, as far as you know, based 

on listening to the testimony and your expertise, they 

would have a tendency to lower costs in Florida; isn't 

that correct? 

A I believe that, given that they would 

certainly give the opportunity to the citizens of 

Florida to realize lower costs. 

Q There Wi3S another comment you made on page 

5. You said, and :I'm quoting now from line 11, "TO 

deny the benefits of merchant plants to the citizens 

of Florida would be unwise, unfair, and certainly 

inconsistent with ithe regulatory goal of protecting 

and promoting the public interest." What is the basis 

for that comment? 

A Well, in my view, promoting the public 

interest is in fact one of the purposes of 

regulation. And in the utility industry, that is 

ACCZJRATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC. 
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t r a n s l a t e d  i n t o  p rov id ing  adequa te  s u p p l i e s  a t  

r easonab le  c o s t ,  r ea sonab le  be ing  lower  o r  l owes t  

c o s t .  And c l e a r l y ,  t h i s  k ind  of p l a n t  f a l l s  w i t h i n  

t h e  r ange  of o p p o r t u n i t i e s  of p r o v i d i n g  t h a t  k ind  of 

o p p o r t u n i t y .  

Q I wanted t o  a s k  you q u e s t i o n s  - -  when you 

w e r e  c h a i r  of F E R C ,  d i d  you have o c c a s i o n  t o  implement 

l a w s  pas sed  by Congress? 

A Yes, no t  o n l y  when I w a s  t h e  chairman of 

FERC, ,  b u t  a l s o  when I was w i t h  t h e  Department of 

Energy and t h e  en t : i r e  t e n  y e a r s  t h a t  I s p e n t  i n  t h e  

e x e c u t i v e  b ranch .  

Q And indeed ,  i s n ' t  t h a t  t h e  r o l e  of a 

r e g u l a t o r y  body, i s  t o  implement l a w s  pas sed  by t h e  

l e g i s l a t i v e  body? 

A T h a t ' s  : r i gh t .  Regu la to r s  must d e a l  w i t h  

t h e  hand t h a t  t h e  l e g i s l a t i v e  body g i v e s  them, o r  

d e a l s  them, I shou:Ld s a y .  

Q I n  your r o l e  a t  F E R C  and o t h e r w i s e ,  when 

you would implement l e g i s l a t i v e  enac tmen t s ,  would t h a t  

on occas ion  r e q u i r e  you t o  i n t e r p r e t  a s t a t u t e ?  

A F requen t ly .  

Q And when you i n t e r p r e t e d  a s t a t u t e ,  would 

you :Look t o  l e g i s l a t i v e  h i s t o r y  i f  there  was 

u n c e r t a i n t y  o r  t o  d i v i n e  t h e  i n t e n t  of Congress? 
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A Well, we would always look at the 

legislative intent, whether we were certain or 

uncertain, just to verify what the intent of Congress 

was. 

Q If there was a question about the intent, 

wouldnlt you go about and try to implement the law 

consistent with what you viewed as the best policy for 

the country? 

A Yes, and especially the best policy would 

be enunciated by the sense of the Congress, what 

Congress intended. 

Q But if there was a situation where it may 

not have been crystal clear, you wouldn't just stop 

and throw up ylour hands and say, "We can't do that," 

would you? 

A No, we didn't do that. And in fact, it was 

my experience in Washington that Congress didn't want 

us to do that, that: Congress in general, not only for 

FERC, but for other agencies, wanted those agencies to 

do as much wor:k as they could before coming back for a 

legislative change ,, 

Q And isniit it true that oftentimes when 

Congress would pass a bill, they would provide the 

guidance and leave it to the implementing agency to 

fill in some datai1.s and to set some policy in that 

L 
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area:? 

A Yes. The implementing regulations, yes. 

Q And you're not aware of any reason why that 

would be different on a state level, are you? 

A Well, you know, I can't comment on the 

state level, because I'm not here as an expert in 

either Florida law or Florida regulation, but it would 

certainly be my hope that that was possible. 

COMlMISSIONER GARCIA: Just out of 

curiosity, what would you do if the chairman of the 

Senate cornmittlee which has oversight over you called 

you and made a suggestion, or wrote you and made a 

suggestion? 

WITINESS HESSE: Well, that - - 

COMI#ISSI[ONER GARCIA: Which I 'm sure 

happened to you every once in a while. 

WITINESS HESSE: Yes, yes, yes. And - -  

COMI#ISSI[ONER GARCIA: Especially with a 

Democratic Congres~;, so I'm sure that you were at 

contravening purposes at points. 

WITNESS HESSE: 'Well, I think that if you 

- -  we had a seinse of where (Congress was and what 

Congress intended and wanted and could follow and 

learn to work within those parameters. Now, clearly, 

receiving letters from members of the Legislature is 
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always an a t t e n t i o n  producing  e v e n t .  But - -  

COMMISSIONER J A C O B S :  W e l l  p u t .  

WITNESS H E S S E :  My expe r i ence  was t h a t ,  you 

know,. w e  l e a r n e d  t o  work w i t h i n  t h a t .  T o  some e x t e n t ,  

you 've  g o t  t o  do w h a t ' s  r i g h t ,  what you t h i n k  i s  

right:, and no t  agafinst t h e  law.  

BY MH. MOYLE: 

Q You p robab ly  had o c c a s i o n ,  I would s u s p e c t ,  

on an  i s s u e  where . - -  there  w a s  an  i s s u e  t h a t  had some 

a t t e n t i o n  t o  i t  where you would r e c e i v e  l e t t e r s  from 

members of Congress t h a t  were on bo th  s i d e s  of an  

i s s u e ;  i s n ' t  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A Hourly.  

Q And i n  t h a t  c a s e ,  you would do what you 

though t  would be b e s t  i n  implementing t h e  l a w ;  i s n ' t  

t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A W e l l ,  you have t o  ba l ance  oppos ing  

v i ewpo in t s ,  bu t  a lways w i t h  an  eye  toward t h e  i n t e n t  

of your  e n a b l i n g  l e g i s l a t i o n ,  and c e r t a i n l y  t h e  i n t e n t  

as  the  environment d i c t a t e d  a t  t h e  moment, because ,  

you know, t i m e s  change,  and Congress r e a l l y  e x p e c t s  

you to keep up w i t l a  t h a t  change t o  some e x t e n t ,  n o t  t o  

go o u t s i d e  t h e  l a w ,  bu t  t o  work w i t h i n  i t .  

Q I ' m  go ing  t o  a sk  you a q u e s t i o n  from a 

broad  sense  and ask you i f  t h i s  would be a f a i r  

~ 
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statement. In my reading o f  your testimony and kind 

of summarizing it j.n my mind, I read it to say that 

you believe a merchant plant in Florida is good 

regulatory pol.icy, is good for wholesale competition, 

is good for the environment, and is good for the 

ratepayers. Would that be a fair statement? 

A And I would broaden that to say that I 

believe that t:hat would be true essentially in any 

state. 

Q And do you see anything significantly wrong 

with the merchant plant concept? 

A No. 

MR. MOYLE: Thank you. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: While we're on those 

issues - -  maybe I'm jumping ahead, but you heard the 

questions - -  I'm sure you were here when I was 

questzioning Mr. Nesbitt about safety issues. And 

clearly that's not a central issue to FERC, but FERC 

does have a reliability responsibility. 

And you probably heard some of those 

questions, my fear of, you know, how much as a state 

regullator I can affect precisely what FPL does or 

precisely what FPC does. I mean, obviously, those are 

cris:is situation where - -  and most probably they can 

handle them much batter than we ever could, because 
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t h a t ' s  t h e i r  b u s i n e s s ,  and o u r s  i s  o n l y  watching  ove r  

them. But I do have con t ro : l s  where I can  - -  I have 

t h e  power t o  do th i .ngs .  

With your  c l i e n t ,  I d o n ' t  have t h o s e  k ind  

of powers,  and s o  1: pose  t h e  q u e s t i o n  t o  you, do you 

see any danger  there  i n  my a b i l i t y  t o  c a r r y  o u t  my j o b  

t o  p r o t e c t  t h e  peop le  of F l o r i d a  o r  F l o r i d a  a s  a 

whole? 

WITNESS HESSE:  'Well, I d o n ' t  t h i n k  - -  I 

don't :  see any probllem o r  an'y dange r ,  i n  t h a t  t h e  

u t i l i t y ,  t h e  pu rchas ing  u t i l i t y  s t i l l  has  t h e  

o b l i g a t i o n  t o  s e r v e .  Not n e c e s s a r i l y  t h e  o b l i g a t i o n  

t o  g e n e r a t e .  I n  g e n e r a l ,  no t  t h e  o b l i g a t i o n  t o  

g e n e r a t e ,  bu t  the o b l i g a t i o n  t o  s e r v e .  And i t ' s  up t o  

t h e  u t i l i t y  - -  

COM'MISSIONER GARCIA:  Well ,  t h e y  have t h e  

o b l i g a t i o n  t o  - -  t h e y  have t h e  o b l i g a t i o n  t o  s e r v e ,  

and t h a t  o b l i g a t i o n  t o  s e r v e  means I ' m  go ing  t o  have 

t o  approve i t  i f  t h e y  come i n  h e r e  and show t h a t  

t h e r e ' s  s t i l l  a need ou t  t h e r e .  

WITNESS HESSE:  Well ,  t h e y  have t h e  

o b l i g a t i o n  t o  s e c u r e  a r e l i a b l e  power supp ly ,  s o  much 

of the burden s h i f t s  t o  t h e  pu rchas ing  u t i l i t y  t o  make 

c e r t a i n  t h a t  t h e y  do have a r e l i a b l e  sou rce  of supp ly ,  

and t h a t ' s  one of t h e  i s s u e s  t h a t  i n  f a c t  t h e y  f a c e  
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now w i t h  t h e i r  own p l a n t s ,  you know, a r e  t h e y  go ing  t o  

b e  UFI and runniing, and i s  t h e r e  go ing  t o  be supp ly  

a v a i l a b l e  from o t h e r  s o u r c e s .  

And i n  t.erms of t h i s  p a r t i c u l a r  p l a n t ,  you 

know, i n  a cominercj-a1 wor ld ,  these  peop le  are  n o t  

go ing  t o  have ;any revenue o:r any p r o f i t  i f  t h e y  d o n ' t  

have a r easonab le  o r  an  adequa te  supp ly ,  a r e l i a b l e  

supp1.y of t h e i r  p r o d u c t .  Ylou know, t h a t ' s  t h e  

b u s i n e s s  t h a t  t h e y l ' r e  i n ,  slo t h e y  have e v e r y  economic 

r eason  t o  make c e r t a i n  t h a t  t h e y  do have a v a i l a b l e  

r e l i a b l e  s u p p l i e s .  But t h e  r e a l  burden s h i f t s  t o  t h e  

p u r c h a s e r ,  which i n  t h i s  c a s e  i s  t h e  u t i l i t y .  

COMIMISSIONER CLARK: L e t  m e  f o l l o w  up on 

t h a t  l i n e  of q,uest:ioning. Your e x p e r i e n c e ,  t h e  bu lk  

of your  expe r i ence  i s  r e a l l y  i n  t h e  g a s  m a r k e t .  

W1T:NESS H E S S E :  You mean a t  FERC?  W e  also 

d i d  a l o t  of work :in t h e  e l e c t r i c  a r e a .  There  w e r e  

some infamous - -  

COMMISSIONER CLARK: L e t  m e  s a y  t h a t  

d i f f e r e n t l y .  There w a s  a l o t  of d e r e g u l a t i o n  go ing  on 

i n  the gas i n d u s t r y  w h i l e  you were there  a s  opposed t o  

t h e  e l e c t r i c  i n d u s t r y .  

W I T N E S S  HESSE:  W e l l ,  t h a t ' s  t r u e ,  because  

you can o n l y  do so much a t  one t i m e .  But on t h e  o t h e r  

hand, w e  a p p l i e d  many of t h e  same p r i n c i p l e s  t h a t  w e  
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were implementing on t h e  g a s  s i d e  on t h e  e l e c t r i c  

s i d e ,  and t h a t  comes i n t o  t h e  area of open a c c e s s .  

One of t h e  c a s e s  t h a t  w e  d i d ,  of c o u r s e ,  w a s  Utah 

Power and L i g h t ,  which was a merger case when P a c i f i c  

Corp. wanted t o  buy them, and r e q u i r e d  t h a t  t h e y  

provi.de open a c c e s s .  

COMIYISSIONER CLARK: I r e a l l y  want t o  know 

t h e  r e s u l t s  o f ,  you know, w h a t  happened i n  t h e  g a s  

i n d u s t r y .  And one of t h e  t h i n g s  t h a t  peop le  who 

advoca te  a more compe t i t i ve  m a r k e t  have t o  s a y  about  

r e l i a b i l i t y  concerns  i s  r e l i a b i l i t y  w i t h  r e s p e c t  t o  

adequacy of s u p p l i e s .  D r .  N e s b i t t  has s a i d  t h e y  have 

t h e  i n c e n t i v e  t o  be t h e r e  when i t ' s  needed,  t h a t  t h e y  

have v e r y  s t r o n g  i n c e n t i v e s ,  because  t h a t ' s  when 

t h e y ' l l  make t h e i r  money, and w i t h  r e s p e c t  t o  

o p e r a t i n g  s e c u r i t y ,  you know, having  i t  t h e r e ,  t h a t  

t h e  :Lines a r e  adequa te  t o  d e l i v e r  i t ,  t h a t  t h e y  have a 

s t r o n g  i n c e n t i v e  l i k e w i s e  t o  p r e s e r v e  t h a t ,  because  

wi thou t  i t ,  t h e r e ' s  no market f o r  t h e i r  p r o d u c t .  

WITNESS H E S S E :  T h a t ' s  r i g h t .  

COMMISSIONER CLARK: Has t h a t  - -  w h a t  ha s  

happened i n  t h e  g a s  market?  Has t h e  supp ly  been t h e r e  

t o  m e e t  t h e  r e l i a b i l i t y  conce rns?  

WITNESS HESSE:  (Nodding head 

a f f i r m a t i v e l y . )  
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COMMISSIONER CLARK: Have there been any 

concerns with irespect to the delivery of it? Have 

there been bottlenecks? Has it not been there on a 

real-time basis when it needed to be there? 

WITNESS HESSE : Commissioner, that I s a 

multipart question, so if I miss one of the parts, 

remind me. 

But I think in general, although there - -  

particularly at the beginni:ng, there were a lot of 

concerns about bottlenecks - -  line pack would be what 

we would call it on the gas side, as you know - -  and 

also whether o:r not: the sup:ply would be there. But to 

my knowledge, there has never been an issue of an 

industry-wide or delivery-point-wide instance where 

deliverability was a problem because of lack of 

regulation. 

Now, if the wells freeze in South Texas or 

something, or there's a storm in the Gulf, the supply 

has t:o be rerouted. You have to displace it. But 

there have never been any outages. And in fact, the 

market has learned to work very well in the gas 

industry. There is more and more call for natural 

gas, more and more expansions of pipelines to bring 

natural gas to new places and to expand supply. I 

think it's working very well. I don't think you would 
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f i n d  anyone who d o e s n ' t  be l . i eve  t h a t .  

COMMISS1:ONER CLARK: Thank you. 

COMIYISS1:ONER JACOBS : There s a - - 

a r g u a b l y ,  t h e  .impacts - -  l e t  m e  a s k  you t h i s  way. 

What do you p e r c e i v e  t o  have been t h e  impact of t h o s e  

devel.opments o n  t h e  operat i ion of t h e  g a s  r e t a i l  

market?  

WITNESS H E S S E :  'Well, I t h i n k  w e ' l l  have t o  

s e p a r a t e  t h e  g a s  r e t a i l  market i n t o  r e s i d e n t i a l  r e t a i l  

and t h e n  maybe who:lesale r e t a i l .  But on t h e  whole,  

g a s  p r i c e s  havje gone down, and g a s  u t i l i z a t i o n  has 

gone up.  S o  t h e r e  has  been t h a t  o c c u r r e n c e .  

R e s i d e n t i a l  r e t a i l  a c c e s s  t o  d i f f e r i n g  g a s  

s o u r c e s  i s  o n l y  something t h a t ' s  beg inn ing  t o  happen 

i n  the  s t a t e s .  The implementa t ion  of r e t a i l  g a s  s a l e s  

i s  p a r t  of t h e  s t a t e  r e g u l a t o r y  r e s p o n s i b i l i t y .  

F E R C ' s  j u r i s d i c t i o n  goes  t o  c i t y  g a t e ,  no t  t o  t h e  

bu rne r  t i p .  However, even wi thou t  having  t h e  o p t i o n  

of the  a v a i l a b i l i t y  of r e t a i l ,  r e s i d e n t i a l  r e t a i l  

s a l e s  and c h o i c e ,  g a s  p r i c e s  have gone down and 

u t i l i z a t i o n  up .  

C O M M I S S I O N E R  J A C O B S :  I t  has  been 

i n t e r e s t i n g  t o  m e  : jus t  i n  my b r i e f  exposure ,  I 

expec ted  t o  s e e ,  p a r t i c u l a r l y  i n  t h e  c o n s e r v a t i o n  

a r e a s ,  t o  see i n  F l o r i d a  more u s e  of g a s .  And I a g r e e  
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t h a t  i t  i s  emergingr. But g i v e n  t h e  l e n g t h  of t i m e  - -  

t h i s  i s  t h e  i n t e r e s t i n g  t h i n g  f o r  m e  - -  t h e  l e n g t h  of 

t i m e  t h a t  t h e  marke t  has been a l lowed  t o  o p e r a t e  i n  a 

f a i r l y  compe t i t i ve  manner, t h e  impacts  of t h a t  seem t o  

have worked t h e i r  way t o  t h e  r e t a i l  customer f a i r l y  

s1owl.y. Is t h a t  something you would a g r e e  w i t h ?  

WITNESS H E S S E :  W e l l ,  I t h i n k  i n  a g i v e n  

i n d u s t r y ,  when you beg in  t h e  f i r s t  round of l e s s e n i n g  

r e g u l a t i o n  and i n t r o d u c i n g  marke t s ,  i t  always t a k e s  

l o n g e r  t h a n  sulbsequent i n t r o d u c t i o n s .  There i s  an  

i n i t i a l  g e t t i n g  used t o  t h e  whole i d e a  and working 

w i t h  l e s s  r e g u l a t e d  marke t s .  I mean, i t  has t a k e n  a 

long  t i m e ,  because ,  y e s ,  y o u ' r e  r i g h t ,  i t  has  no t  y e t  

r eached  - -  cho ice  has no t  y e t  r eached  t h e  r e s i d e n t i a l  

r e t a i l  g a s  consumer. However, I t h i n k  because  

u t i l i z a t i o n  is up and p r i c e s  a r e  down, a l o t  of t h e  

b e n e f i t s  of more compe t i t i ve  m a r k e t s  have f lown t o  t h e  

r e t a i l  u s e r .  

COMMISSIONER JACOBS : Thank you.  

MR. MOYLE: I have no th ing  f u r t h e r .  

CHAIRMAN J O H N S O N :  M r .  Guyton? 

MR. GUYTON: Thank you, Madam Chairman. 

CRO S S EXAM I NAT I ON 

BY MR. GUYTON: 

Q Good day ,  M s .  H e s s e .  
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A Hello. 

Q I want to follow up on a couple of 

questions from the bench on your observations about a 

utili.ty's obligation to serve and to secure a reliable 

power: supply. You did state that that was the 

utili.ty's obligation, didn't you? 

A Yes, currently, as I understand it, in the 

State of Florida. 

Q Now, uti-lities, to assure a reliable power 

suppl.~, would they go out and buy the capacity they 

needed on the spot market to do that? 

A Is .your question would they? 

Q Yes. 

A Well, I think that the utilities have a 

broad range of power supply options. Going out on the 

open market has several levels of availability. You 

can sign long-term contracts. You can sign short-term 

contracts. Within that, you can have firm, and you 

can have interruptable. You have many options. You 

can buy spot. You know, I only need peaking power for 

a couple of hours, and I need it maybe today or 

tomorrow. The utility has a great range of options. 

Q And if .it were going to go out on that 

market to exercise its options to meet its obligation 

to serve, it would need to contract for the power 

ACCURATE STENOTYI?E R E P O R T E R S ,  I N C .  
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supply, would :it not? 

A Well, I think that - -  yes, but let me 

explain. There are many walys for the utility to 

contract that tloesri' t involve necessarily long- term 

contracts. I mean, a contract can be something that's 

a verbal order, as well as (a 15- or 20-year supply 

contract. 

Q Are you suggesting that for the long-term 

reliability of the states, somebody ought to go out 

and make a ver:bal order for some capacity on the spot 

market? 

A No, that's not what I said. I said that 

the utility has a range of options, and I think the 

utilities today pursue that range of options. 

Q Now, I've read your testimony actually 

several times. I didn't see a mention in it of the 

Florida Electrical Power Plant Siting Act. Did I 

over:Look that? 

A No. 

Q Have you read any of the Commission's 

decisions regarding or interpreting the Power Plant 

Siting Act? 

A No. 

Q Have you read any of the Florida Supreme 

Court decisions that implem.ent the Power Plant Siting 

~~~~ 
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Act? 

A No. 

Q What do you understand the purpose of this 

particular proceedj.ng to be'? 

A Well, I understand the purpose of this 

proceeding to he that the joint petitioners wish to 

build a merchant plant in the State of Florida. 

Q And how does their desire to build a 

merchant plant in the State of Florida relate at all 

to this proceeding? 

A Well, they want to build a merchant plant, 

and under the :Energy Policy Act, merchant plants were 

encouraged. T:he states, however, were to retain 

siting and environmental issues, and so that's, in my 

view, why they're here. 

Q So this proceeding, as you understand it, 

is a state power p:Lant siting proceeding within the 

Energy Policy .Act? 

A Yes. 

Q NOW, the siting of power plants other than 

hydro units and nuclear units traditionally has been a 

state function, hasn't it? 

A Yes. 

Q And it hasn't be a function of the FERC to 

license power plants other than hydro units, has it? 
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A 

purposes. 

Q 

Not unless it's solely for wholesale 

Is :it reasonable to say that other than for 

hydro or nuclear facilities that the national energy 

policy has been largely to leave power plant siting 

and environmental 1-icensing up to the states? 

A That I s correct. 

Q And that: hasn't changed - -  

COMI!4ISSI[ONER DEASON: Excuse me. I need to 

go back to your previous answer. I believe you 

answered unless the plant is 100% wholesale. 

W1T:NESS HESSE: Yes. 

C0M:MISS:CONER DEASON: FERC does not license 

plants other than hydro. 

WITNESS HESSE: Right. It regulates them. 

It does not license them; that's correct. 

COMMISSIONER DEASON: Are you saying then 

that Duke New Smyriia could have gone to FERC to get a 

license to build this plant in Florida because it's 

100% wholesale? 

WITNESS HESSE: No, they would still have 

to go through - -  no, because under the Energy Policy 

Act, it's my understanding of it that merchant plants 

stil:L - -  the siting and the environmental decisions 

are :left to the states. So, yes, they would have to 
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come to the state. 

COMMISSIONER DEASON: So what authority do 

they have to get from FERC? Just file a tariff and 

have that tariff approved, and if they qualify for 

market-based rates to get that approval? 

WITNESS HESSE: Yes. 

BY MR. GUYTON: 

Q Now, you speak at several points in your 

testimony at piages 10 through 13 of national energy 

polic:y, and in that; passage you make reference to 

three sources, the Public Utility Regulatory Policies 

Act of 1978, t:he Energy Policy Act of 1992, and Order 

888; correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And you say that since Congress passed 

PURPA, or you say since PURPA, Congress and FERC have 

favored competition in the supply of bulk electricity; 

correct? 

A Correct. 

Q Now, in PURPA, Congress created an 

obligation on utilities to purchase power from 

qualifying facilities, didn't it? 

A Yes. 

Q Is it your testimony that creating a 

mandatory purchase obligation favors competition? 
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A Not necessarily. I do think, if I may add, 

that one of the results of PURPA was to demonstrate 

that - -  or it demonstrated that there were in fact 

investors who were willing to put up their own capital 

to build plants to participate in a competitive market 

without the guarantee of a return. That was clearly 

not one of the intended - -  I think that was one of the 

results, one of the pleasant results, if I may say, as 

opposed to one of the stated intents. 

Q So :you don't really believe that under 

PURPA, with thle mandate to purchase, that that was 

designed to increase wholesale competition, do you? 

A I think it was a result. PURPA was passed 

in 1978, and in 1998 and 1988 the result of the effect 

of PTJRPA was apparent. 

Q Well, let's look at some of the results of 

PURPA. You talk ahout the nation's experience with 

PURPA at page 8 .  After Congress created that 

mandatory purchase obligation, the Federal Energy 

Regulatory Commiss:ion then adopted rules requiring 

utilities to purchase QF power, didn't it? 

A Yes. But it left the implementation to the 

states, and so each state's implementation could, and 

in many cases did, vary dramatically. 

Q And as a result of those federally mandated 

ACCZJRATE STENOTYPE REPORTERS, INC. 
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of long-term contracts with the qualifying facilities 

in the 1980s, didn't they? 

A Yes, they did, in conformance with state 

regulation. 

Q State regulation which was mandated by 

Congress and tlhe FISRC; correct? 

A The implementing regulations, yes. 

Q NOW, is it fair to say that generation unit 

costs declined considerably, or have declined 

considerably since the 1980s? 

A That would be my opinion. 

Q And as ib result of those lower generating 

unit costs, many of the PURPA contracts that were 

entered into in the 1980s have turned out to be fairly 

high sources of power to utilities, haven't they? 

A That s correct. 

Q Indeed, on some utility systems, those 

PURPA contracts are among the utilities' highest cost 

of power, aren't they? 

A That s correct. 

Q Do you lcnow if the PURPA contracts are 

among Florida utilities' highest cost of power? 

A No, not specifically. 

Q How did the financial rating agencies 
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respond to the uti1,ities' significant long-term PURPA 

contract ob1 igat ions? 

A Wel:L, I think at the time of 

implementation, they were very favorable to that. 

That would be my general recollection. I cannot 

comment on Wal:L Street's specific reaction to Florida 

IOUS. 

Q And I wouldn't ask you to. But rating 

agencies at some point starting assessing a utility's 

riskiness with PURI?A contract obligations, did they 

not? 

A Yes. 

Q And they treated those long-term 

obligations as debt:. From their perspective, the 

greater the de:bt, the greater the risk to the equity 

investment? 

A That's generally the way the equation 

works. 

Q So the greater the risk to the equity of 

the :investor, the greater the cost of capital to the 

ut i 1 :it y ? 

A Yes. 

Q Now, many of those utilities that have 

found themselves w:ith those high cost PURPA contracts 

have begun to try to buy them out, haven't they? 
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A Yes. 

Q Why do you suppose they've done that? 

A Wel:L, because the contracts are no longer 

economic. There is certainly something to be said for 

constructing contracts based on market price so that 

it can in fact fluctuate, or to have a market out 

provision. 

Q But that: wasn't the mandate that Congress 

gave, was it? 

A That's correct. 

Q And it wasn't the mandate that the Federal 

Energy Regulatory Commission gave, was it? 

A That I s  correct. 

Q Do 'you know the impact of PURPA contracts 

on Florida utilities' credit ratings at all? 

A I do not:. 

Q Do you know the volume of PURPA contracts 

in FILorida? 

A I do not. 

Q Do you know how many PURPA contracts in 

Florida have been bought out by Florida utilities? 

A I do not. 

Q You helped implement PURPA, didn't you? 

A No. That was before my time. But, yes, 

we - . -  
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Q When you were on the - -  

A But, yes, we reviewed cases that concerned 

PURPA. 

Q So indead, you did help implement PURPA 

while you were on the Federal Energy Regulatory 

Commission? 

A Yes, based on your definition. 

Q And you're testifying here about the impact 

of PURPA in Florida, but you don't have any idea what 

the impact of PURPA in Florida has been; correct? 

MR. WIGGINS: Objection. 

MR. GUYTON: 1'11 withdraw it. 

MR. WIGGINS: Thank you. 

BY MR. GUYTON: 

Q You don't really know the fruits of 

national energ'y po:Licy in Florida due to PURPA, do 

you? 

A That Is correct. 

Q NOW, in 1992, Congress started with another 

experiment, the Energy Policy Act; correct? 

A Correct. 

Q And you consider the Energy Policy Act to 

be an expression o:E federal energy policy? 

A Correct. 

Q And wou:ld that include Section 731 of the 

______________ ~~~~ ~ ~ ~ 
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Energy Policy Act? 

A Is !jecti.on 731 the section that reserves 

the right for siting and environment? 

Q Yes. 

A Thein, yes, I would. 

COMMISSIONER CLARK: Is there any part of 

that act that isn't: federal policy? 

WITINESS HESSE: Not that I'm aware of. 

BY MR. GUYTON: 

Q Does the Energy Policy Act at any point use 

the term "merchant plant"? 

A I don't think so. I think it uses the word 

"exempt wholesale generator." But I would have to 

have an opportunity to review that before I could say 

definitively yes oir no. I wouldn't want to misstate. 

Q When was the last time you thoroughly read 

the Energy Policy Act? 

A Line by line? 

Q Yes, ma'am. 

A Probably several months ago. 

Q Would that also be true of Order 888? 

A No. My line-by-line reading of Order 888 

would have been a :Long time ago. 

Q You didn't even read Order 888 in 

anticipation or in preparation for this hearing? 
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A I read some of the general introductory 

language to refresh my memory. 

Q Have you had occasion to thoroughly read 

PURPA? 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: Mr. Guyton, how much 

more do you have? 

MR. GUYTON: Maybe ten minutes. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: Mr. Sasso, you're going 

to have questions too, I presume. 

MR. SAS80: Yes, ma'am, but not very much. 

CHAIRMAN JOHNSON: We're going to need to 

break, and we will reconvene at 1 : O O .  

(Thiereupon, the hearing was adjourned at 

12:OO p.m., to reconvene at 1 : O O . )  

(Transcript continues in sequence in 

Volume 8.) 
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